IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS INC Form 10-Q November 09, 2011 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

TOP15.40. O
FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGI ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2011
OR

o $\,$ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-34620

IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

04-3404176

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

301 Binney Street
Cambridge, Massachusetts
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

02142 (Zip Code)

(617) 621-7722

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:(1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days: Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files): Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o

Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act): o Yes x No

As of November 1, 2011, there were 59,875,478 shares of Class A common stock outstanding and 40,660,822 shares of Class B common stock outstanding.

Table of Contents

IRONWOOD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q

FOR THE QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
	PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements (unaudited)	
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2011 and December 31,	
	2010	3
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Nine Months	
	Ended September 30, 2011 and 2010	4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended	
	<u>September 30, 2011 and 2010</u>	4
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	6
<u>Item 2.</u>	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	
	<u>Operations</u>	24
<u>Item 3.</u>	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	34
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	35
	PART II OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	36
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	52
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	52
	<u>Signatures</u>	53
	2	

Table of Contents

PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents \$	68,820	\$ 44,321
Available-for-sale securities	106,309	203,706
Accounts receivable	74	19
Related party accounts receivable, net	667	2,876
Prepaid expenses and other assets	2,896	5,320
Restricted cash		2,833
Total current assets	178,766	259,075
Restricted cash	7,647	7,647
Property and equipment, net	32,875	34,369
Other assets	192	274
Total assets \$	219,480	\$ 301,365
Liabilities and Stockholders Equity		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable \$	2,390	\$ 4,302
Accrued research and development costs	7,629	8,140
Accrued expenses	9,247	8,938
Current portion of capital lease obligations	228	197
Current portion of deferred rent	3,707	2,799
Current portion of deferred revenue	47,647	40,050
Total current liabilities	70,848	64,426
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion	481	393
Deferred rent, net of current portion	13,308	14,612
Deferred revenue, net of current portion	21,913	62,383
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)		
Stockholders equity:		

Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value, 75,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding

outstanding		
Class A common stock, \$0.001 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized and 58,805,086 and		
48,202,089 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010,		
respectively	59	48
Class B common stock, \$0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized and 41,684,472 and		
50,970,247 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010,		
respectively	42	51
Additional paid-in capital	538,241	526,991
Accumulated deficit	(425,418)	(367,540)
Accumulated other comprehensive income	6	1
Total stockholders equity	112,930	159,551
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 219,480 \$	301,365

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

	Three Mon Septem	 	Nine Mont Septem	 ed
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Collaborative arrangements revenue	\$ 12,218	\$ 9,059 \$	33,717	\$ 27,085
Operating expenses:				
Research and development	22,905	18,742	61,869	56,188
General and administrative	10,929	6,482	30,958	18,868
Total operating expenses	33,834	25,224	92,827	75,056
Loss from operations	(21,616)	(16,165)	(59,110)	(47,971)
Other income (expense):				
Interest expense	(16)	(81)	(49)	(178)
Interest and investment income	105	188	384	445
Other income	897		900	
Other income (expense), net	986	107	1,235	267
Net loss from continuing operations before				
income tax expense (benefit)	(20,630)	(16,058)	(57,875)	(47,704)
Income tax expense (benefit)	3	(2,944)	3	(2,944)
Net loss from continuing operations	(20,633)	(13,114)	(57,878)	(44,760)
Net income from discontinued operations		6,367		4,551
Net loss	(20,633)	(6,747)	(57,878)	(40,209)
Net income from discontinued operations				
attributable to noncontrolling interest		(1,523)		(1,121)
Net loss attributable to Ironwood				
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	\$ (20,633)	\$ (8,270) \$	(57,878)	\$ (41,330)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to				
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. basic and diluted:				
Continuing operations	\$ (0.21)	\$ (0.13) \$	(0.58)	\$ (0.52)
Discontinued operations		0.05		0.04
Net loss per share	\$ (0.21)	\$ (0.08) \$	(0.58)	\$ (0.48)
Weighted average number of common shares				
used in net income (loss) per share attributable to				
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. basic and diluted	100,174,100	97,925,657	99,699,545	86,633,080

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

	Nine Months Ended		I
	Septem	ber 30,	
	2011		2010
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net loss	\$ (57,878)	\$	(40,209)
Income from discontinued operations			4,551
Loss from continuing operations	(57,878)		(44,760)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	7,323		4,245
Loss on disposal of property and equipment	8		249
Share-based compensation expense	8,511		5,136
Accretion of discount/premium on investment securities	1,851		895
Changes in assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable	2,154		170
Restricted cash	2,833		(2,348)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	2,424		(1,896)
Other assets	82		(296)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(1,064)		3,011
Accrued research and development costs	(511)		(7,073)
Deferred revenue	(32,873)		(26,097)
Deferred rent	(396)		7,480
Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations	(67,536)		(61,284)
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operations			(5,969)
Total net cash used in operating activities	(67,536)		(67,253)
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchases of available-for-sale securities	(81,524)		(322,319)
Sales and maturities of available-for-sale securities	177,075		129,337
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary			9,500
Purchases of property and equipment	(6,033)		(15,090)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	4		
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations	89,522		(198,572)
Net cash provided by investing activities from discontinued operations			1
Total net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	89,522		(198,571)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from initial public offering			203,167
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, stock purchase plan and issuance of restricted			
stock	2,719		1,215
Payments on borrowings	(206)		(1,891)

Net cash provided by financing activities from continuing operations	2,513	202,491
Net cash used in financing activities from discontinued operations		(277)
Net cash provided by financing activities	2,513	202,214
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	24,499	(63,610)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	44,321	122,306
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 68,820	\$ 58,696
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:		
Cash paid for interest (including discontinued operations)	\$ 47	\$ 308
Cash paid for income taxes	\$ 3	\$
Debt and interest paid by purchases of subsidiary	\$	\$ 1,075
Purchases under capital leases	\$ 325	\$ 529

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

n 1	1		0			
Tal	٦le	• U.	† ('	on	ten	ŧ٩

Ironwood	Pharma	ceuticals.	. Inc.
----------	--------	------------	--------

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

1. Nature of Business

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) is an entrepreneurial pharmaceutical company that discovers, develops and intends to commercialize differentiated medicines that improve patients lives. The Company s lead product candidate is linaclotide, a guanylate cyclase type-C (GC-C) agonist being developed for the treatment of patients with irritable bowel syndrome with constipation (IBS-C) or chronic constipation (CC). The Company and its U.S. collaboration partner, Forest Laboratories, Inc. (Forest), announced in August 2011 that they submitted a New Drug Application (NDA) to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for linaclotide. On September 29, 2011, the Company and its European partner, Almirall, S.A. (Almirall) each announced that Almirall submitted a Market Authorization Application (MAA) to the European Medicines Agency (EMA) for linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C. The Company also has a pipeline focused on both research and development of early stage product candidates and preclinical research in multiple therapeutic areas, including gastrointestinal disease, pain and inflammation, respiratory disease and cardiovascular disease.

Prior to September 2010, the Company held a majority ownership interest in Microbia, Inc. (formerly known as Microbia Precision Engineering), a subsidiary formed in September 2006. Microbia, Inc. (Microbia) engaged in a specialty biochemicals business based on a proprietary strain-development platform. In September 2010, the Company sold its interest in Microbia to DSM Holding Company USA, Inc. (DSM) (Note 2).

The Company was incorporated in Delaware on January 5, 1998. On April 7, 2008, the Company changed its name from Microbia, Inc. to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

The Company has generated an accumulated deficit as of September 30, 2011 of approximately \$425.4 million since inception. In February 2010, the Company completed its initial public offering of Class A common stock and raised a total of approximately \$203.2 million in net proceeds (Note 3).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Unaudited Interim Financial Statements

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and the related disclosures as of September 30, 2011 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 are unaudited and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (GAAP) and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. These interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011. The December 31, 2010 condensed consolidated balance sheet included herein was derived from the audited financial statements as of that date, but does not include all disclosures including notes required by GAAP for complete financial statements.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments of a normal recurring nature considered necessary to present fairly the Company s financial position as of September 30, 2011 and results of its operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, and its cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010. The interim results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2011.

n 1	1		0			
Tal	٦le	• U.	† ('	on	ten	ŧ٩

Ironwood Ph	armaceu	ticals.	Inc.
-------------	---------	---------	------

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. include the revenue, expenses and cash flows of Microbia, over which the Company exercised control until September 21, 2010, when the Company sold its 85% interest in Microbia to DSM. The Company recorded noncontrolling interest in its condensed consolidated statements of operations for the ownership interest of the minority owners of Microbia. All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Sale of Subsidiary and Discontinued Operations

On September 21, 2010, the Company sold its interest in Microbia to DSM in exchange for cash proceeds of \$9.5 million, the payment of approximately \$1.1 million of Microbia debt and interest by DSM and future contingent consideration based on the sale of products incorporating Microbia s technology. As a result of the sale of its interest in Microbia, the Company ceased to have any financial interest in Microbia. The Company maintained no further investment in Microbia and recorded a gain on the sale of Microbia in its consolidated statements of operations of approximately \$12.2 million at the time of the sale.

Additionally, in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, the Company considered if the operations and cash flows of Microbia had been eliminated from the ongoing operations of the Company and if the Company would have any significant continuing involvement in the operations of Microbia after the sale in order to determine whether or not to present Microbia as discontinued operations in the financial statements. The Company determined that Microbia met the requirements for presentation as discontinued operations and accordingly, the Company classified the assets, liabilities, operations and cash flows of Microbia as discontinued operations for all periods presented prior to the sale.

The agreement with DSM also included future contingent consideration in the form of a royalty on future sales of products incorporating Microbia s technology through the earlier of a) 2024, b) the invalidity of any Microbia patent, or c) the maximum agreed upon amount is reached. As of September 30, 2011, no amounts have been recorded for the contingent consideration in the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires the Company s management to make estimates and judgments that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, the Company s management evaluates its estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, available-for-sale securities, impairment of long-lived assets, income taxes including the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, research and development expense, contingencies and share-based compensation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Changes in estimates are reflected in reported results in the period in which they become known.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investment instruments with an original maturity when purchased of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Investments qualifying as cash equivalents consist of money market funds and certain U.S. government sponsored securities. The carrying amount of cash equivalents approximates fair value. The amount of cash equivalents included in cash and cash equivalents was approximately \$61.5 million and \$39.2 million at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

Available-for-Sale Securities

The Company classifies all short-term investments with an original maturity when purchased of greater than three months as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income (loss). The amortized cost of debt securities in this category is adjusted for the amortization of premiums and

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included in interest and investment income. Realized gains and losses, and declines in value judged to be other than temporary on available-for-sale securities, are included in interest and investment income.

The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in interest and investment income. To determine whether an other-than-temporary impairment exists, the Company considers whether it has the ability and intent to hold the investment until a market price recovery, and whether evidence indicating the recoverability of the cost of the investment outweighs evidence to the contrary. There were no other-than-temporary impairments for the three months ended September 30, 2011.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, available-for-sale securities and accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalent balances with high-quality financial institutions and, consequently, the Company believes that such funds are subject to minimal credit risk. The Company savailable-for-sale investments primarily consist of U.S. government-sponsored securities and U.S. Treasury securities and potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk. The Company has adopted an investment policy which limits the amounts the Company may invest in any one type of investment, and requires all investments held by the Company to be A+ rated, thereby reducing credit risk concentration.

Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounts due under the collaboration agreement with Forest and license agreements with Almirall and Astellas Pharma Inc. (Astellas) (Note 5) for which the Company does not obtain collateral. Accounts receivable from Forest and Almirall are presented as related party accounts receivable on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as both entities own common stock of the Company.

At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, accounts receivable from Forest, net of any payables due Forest, accounted for approximately 89% of the Company s total accounts receivable. At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, Almirall accounted for approximately less than 1% and 10%, respectively, of the Company s total accounts receivable. At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, Astellas accounted for approximately 10% and less than 1%, respectively, of the Company s total accounts receivable.

The percentages of revenue from continuing operations recognized from significant customers of the Company in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 are included in the following table:

	Three Months	Ended	Nine Months	Ended
	September 30,		September	· 30,
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Collaborative Partner:				
Forest	45%	60%	49%	60%
Almirall	48%	29%	43%	31%
Astellas	7%	11%	8%	9%

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, no additional customers accounted for more than 10% of the Company s revenue from continuing operations. Tate & Lyle Investments, Ltd. (T&L) accounted for approximately 0% and 98% of the Company s revenue from discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

The Company s revenue is generated through collaborative research and development and licensing agreements. The terms of these agreements contain multiple deliverables which may include (i) licenses, (ii) research and development activities, and (iii) the manufacture of active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) and development materials for the collaborative partner. Payments to the Company under these agreements may include non-refundable license fees, payments for research and development activities, payments for the manufacture of API and development materials, payments based upon the achievement of certain milestones and royalties on product sales. In addition, prior to September 2010, the Company generated services revenue through agreements that generally provided for fees for research and development services rendered.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

For arrangements that include multiple deliverables, the Company follows the provisions of the Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 605-25, *Revenue Recognition Multiple-Element Arrangements*, in accounting for these agreements. Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009-13, *Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements* (ASU 2009-13), which amends ASC Topic 605-25. Refer to Note 2, Recently Adopted Accounting Standards, for additional discussion of this standard and its impact on the Company s accounting for collaboration and license agreements. In order to account for these agreements, the Company must identify the deliverables included within the agreement and evaluate which deliverables represent separate units of accounting based on if certain criteria are met, including whether the delivered element has standalone value to the collaborator. The consideration received is allocated among the separate units of accounting, and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. The Company recognizes revenue when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, services have been rendered or delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured.

At September 30, 2011, the Company had collaboration and license agreements with Forest, Almirall and Astellas. Refer to Note 5, Collaboration and License Agreements, for additional discussion of these agreements.

There are no performance, cancellation, termination or refund provisions in any of the Company s arrangements that contain material financial consequences to the Company.

Collaboration and License Agreements

The significant deliverables under the Company s collaboration and license agreements generally include the license to develop and commercialize linaclotide, the Company s GC-C agonist, and may also include deliverables related to research and development activities, and the manufacture of API and development materials for the collaborative partner.

Generally, collaboration and license agreements contain non-refundable terms for payments and, depending on the terms of the agreement, provide that the Company will (i) provide research and development activities, including participation on a joint development committee, (ii) manufacture API and development materials which are reimbursed at a contractually determined rate, (iii) earn payments upon the achievement of certain milestones, and (iv) earn royalty payments on sales of linaclotide. In determining the separate units of accounting, management evaluates whether the license has standalone value to the partner based on the consideration of the relevant facts and circumstances for each arrangement. Factors considered in this determination include the research capabilities of the partner and the availability of peptide research expertise in the general marketplace. In addition, the Company considers whether the collaborator can use the license for its intended purpose without the receipt of the remaining deliverables, and whether the value of the license is dependent on the undelivered items and whether there are other vendors that can provide the undelivered item.

For all of the collaboration and license agreements discussed in Note 5, the licenses and research and development activities did not qualify as separate units of accounting since the licenses did not have standalone value without the research and development activities. Up-front payments on a license are deferred if facts and circumstances dictate that the license does not have standalone value. The determination of the length of the period over which to defer revenue is subject to judgment and estimation and can have an impact on the amount of revenue recognized in a given period. The Company generally estimates this period as the estimated period of performance, which is typically the research and development term due to the Company s continuing involvement in the performance of research and development activities, primarily through its participation on a joint development committee. Typically the research and development term begins at the inception of the collaboration or license agreement and concludes when the Company s significant research and development obligations under the agreement have concluded. The Company believes this period of involvement is 60 months for the Forest collaboration, 41 months for the Almirall license agreement and 115 months for the Astellas license agreement. Quarterly, the Company reassesses its periods of substantial involvement over which the Company amortizes its up-front license fees and makes adjustments as appropriate. In the event that a license were to be terminated, the Company would recognize as revenue any portion of the up-front fee that had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue at the date of such termination.

Up-front payments on a license may be recognized upon delivery of the license if facts and circumstances dictate that the license has standalone value from the undelivered elements, which generally include research and development activities and manufacture of API and development materials.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

At the inception of each agreement that includes milestone payments, the Company evaluates whether each milestone is substantive and at risk to both parties on the basis of the contingent nature of the milestone, specifically reviewing factors such as the scientific and other risks that must be overcome to achieve the milestone, as well as the level of effort and investment required. Milestones that are not considered substantive are accounted for as license payments and recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining period of performance. Refer to Note 5 for details on the specific milestones in each of the Company s agreements.

In those circumstances where a substantive milestone is achieved, collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured and the Company has remaining obligations to perform under the collaboration arrangement, the Company has historically recognized as revenue on the date the milestone was achieved an amount equal to the applicable percentage of the performance period that had elapsed as of the date the milestone was achieved, with the balance being deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining period of performance. Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted ASU No. 2010-17, Revenue Recognition Milestone Method (ASU 2010-17). Refer to Note 2, Recently Adopted Accounting Standards, for additional discussion of the adoption of this standard and its prospective impact on the Company s accounting for collaboration and license agreements. Under ASU 2010-17, beginning January 1, 2011, in those circumstances where a substantive milestone is achieved and collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured, the Company will recognize revenue related to the milestone in its entirety in the period in which the milestone is achieved. At the inception of each arrangement that includes milestone payments, the Company evaluates whether each milestone is substantive. This evaluation includes an assessment of whether (a) the consideration is commensurate with either (1) the entity s performance to achieve the milestone, or (2) the enhancement of the value of the delivered item(s) as a result of a specific outcome resulting from the entity s performance to achieve the milestone, (b) the consideration relates solely to past performance and (c) the consideration is reasonable relative to all of the deliverables and payment terms within the arrangement. The Company evaluates factors such as the scientific, clinical, regulatory, commercial and other risks that must be overcome to achieve the respective milestone, the level of effort and investment required and whether the milestone consideration is reasonable relative to all deliverables and payment terms in the arrangement in making this assessment. Milestone payments received in prior periods will continue to be recognized based upon the remaining period of performance.

The Company produces development materials and API for its collaborators and is reimbursed for its costs to produce the material. The Company recognizes revenue on development material and API when the material has passed all quality testing required for collaborator acceptance, delivery has occurred, title and risk of loss have transferred to the collaborator, the price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured.

The Company receives research and development funding under the Forest collaboration agreement and considers the factors or indicators within this arrangement to determine whether reporting such funding on a gross or net basis is appropriate. The Company records revenue transactions gross in the condensed consolidated statements of operations if it is deemed the principal in the transaction, which includes being the primary obligor and having the risks and rewards of ownership.

Services Revenue

Prior to September 2010, the Company recognized services revenue when there was persuasive evidence that an arrangement existed, services had been rendered or delivery had occurred, the price was fixed or determinable, and collection was reasonably assured. Revenue from research and development services rendered was recognized as services were performed. As a result of the sale of the Company s interest in Microbia in September 2010, services revenue is included in net income from discontinued operations.

Research and Development Costs

The Company expenses research and development costs to operations as incurred. The Company defers and capitalizes non-refundable advance payments made by the Company for research and development activities until the related goods are received or the related services are performed.

Research and development expenses are comprised of costs incurred in performing research and development activities, including salaries and benefits, share-based compensation expense, laboratory supplies and other direct expenses, facilities expenses, overhead expenses, contractual services, including clinical trial and related clinical manufacturing expenses, and other outside expenses. As a result of the sale of the Company s interest in Microbia in September 2010, costs of revenue related to the Microbia services contracts and costs associated with Microbia s research and development activities are included in net income from discontinued operations.

10

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

The Company has entered into a collaboration agreement in which it shares research and development expenses with a collaborator. The Company records the expenses for such work as research and development expense. Because the collaboration arrangement is a cost-sharing arrangement, the Company concluded that when there is a period during the collaboration arrangement during which the Company receives payments from the collaborator, the Company records the payments by the collaborator for their share of the development effort as a reduction of research and development expense.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation is recognized as an expense in the financial statements based on the grant date fair value. Compensation expense recognized relates to stock awards, restricted stock and stock options granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled on or after January 1, 2006. Stock options granted to employees prior to that time continue to be accounted for using the intrinsic value method. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation associated with share-based awards to employees was determined as the difference, if any, between the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date compensation was measured, generally the grant date, and the price an employee must pay to exercise the award. For awards that vest based on service conditions, the Company uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation expense to reporting periods. The grant date fair value of options granted is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the use of subjective assumptions including volatility, expected term and the fair value of the underlying common stock, among others.

The Company records the expense for stock option grants subject to performance-based milestone vesting over the remaining service period when management determines that achievement of the milestone is probable. Management evaluates when the achievement of a performance-based milestone is probable based on the relative satisfaction of the performance conditions as of the reporting date.

The Company records the expense of services rendered by non-employees based on the estimated fair value of the stock option using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of unvested non-employee awards are remeasured at each reporting period and expensed over the vesting term of the underlying stock options.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest represents the noncontrolling stockholder s proportionate share of equity and net income or net loss of the Company s former consolidated subsidiary, Microbia. On September 21, 2010, the Company sold its interest in Microbia, resulting in the deconsolidation of its former subsidiary bringing the noncontrolling interest balance to zero.

Net Loss Per Share

The Company calculates basic and diluted net loss per common share by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The Company has excluded unvested restricted stock and shares that are subject to repurchase by the Company from the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The Company s potentially dilutive shares, which include outstanding common stock options and unvested shares of restricted stock, have not been included in the computation of diluted net loss per share for all periods as the result would be antidilutive. The Company presents the net income (loss) per share attributable to both continuing and discontinued operations. The income attributable to the noncontrolling interest is included in the net income per share from discontinued operations.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes under the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to reflect the uncertainty associated with their ultimate realization.

Management of the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred tax assets. Management has considered the Company s history of operating losses and concluded, in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the deferred tax assets have been fully reserved at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010. Management reevaluates the positive and negative evidence on a quarterly basis.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions recognized in the condensed consolidated financial statements by prescribing a more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company regularly reviews the carrying amount of its long-lived assets to determine whether indicators of impairment may exist which warrant adjustments to carrying values or estimated useful lives. If indications of impairment exist, projected future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset are compared to the carrying amount to determine whether the asset s value is recoverable. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds such projected undiscounted cash flows, the asset will be written down to its estimated fair value. There were no indicators of impairment at September 30, 2011.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

All components of comprehensive income (loss) are required to be disclosed in the condensed consolidated financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions, and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources and consists of net loss and changes in unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities. Comprehensive loss from operations was calculated as follows (in thousands):

	Three Mon Septem	 led	Nine Months Ended September 30,			
	2011	2010	2011	2010		
Net loss attributable to Ironwood						
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	\$ (20,633)	\$ (8,270) \$	(57,878)	\$	(41,330)	
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments	(47)	4	5		48	
Comprehensive loss attributable to Ironwood						
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	\$ (20,680)	\$ (8,266) \$	(57,873)	\$	(41,282)	

Segment Information

Operating segments are components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and is evaluated regularly by the Company s chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

Prior to the sale of its interest in Microbia in September 2010, the Company had two reportable business segments: human therapeutics and biomanufacturing (Note 12). Revenue from the Company s human therapeutics segment is presented in the condensed consolidated statements of operations as collaborative arrangements revenue. Revenue from the Company s biomanufacturing segment is presented as a component of the net income from discontinued operations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) or other standard setting bodies that are adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the Company believes that the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations upon adoption.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-13. ASU 2009-13 amends existing revenue recognition accounting pronouncements that are currently within the scope of FASB ASC Subtopic 605-25 (previously included within EITF 00-21, *Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables* (EITF 00-21)). The consensus to ASU 2009-13 provides accounting principles and application guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the arrangement should be separated, and the consideration allocated. This guidance eliminates the requirement to establish the fair value of undelivered products and services and instead provides for separate revenue recognition based upon management s estimate of the selling price for an undelivered item when there is no other means to determine the fair value of that undelivered item. EITF 00-21 previously required that the fair value of the

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

undelivered item be the price of the item either sold in a separate transaction between unrelated third parties or the price charged for each item when the item is sold separately by the vendor. Under EITF 00-21, if the fair value of all of the elements in the arrangement was not determinable, then revenue was deferred until all of the items were delivered or fair value was determined. This new approach is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. On January 1, 2011, the Company adopted ASU 2009-13 on a prospective basis. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-17. ASU 2010-17 provides guidance in applying the milestone method of revenue recognition to research or development arrangements. Under this guidance, management may recognize revenue contingent upon the achievement of a milestone in its entirety, in the period in which the milestone is achieved, if the milestone meets all the criteria within the guidance to be considered substantive. This ASU is effective for research and development milestones achieved in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. On January 1, 2011, the Company adopted ASU 2010-17 to change its accounting policy to begin applying the milestone method on a prospective basis. As the Company elected prospective adoption, there was no material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations. However, the adoption of ASU 2010-17 is expected to impact the Company s accounting for any milestone payments received in future periods.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-27, *Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmaceutical Manufacturers* (ASU 2010-27) which provides guidance on how to recognize and classify the fees mandated by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act (together, the Acts). The Acts impose an annual fee for each calendar year beginning on or after January 1, 2011 payable by branded prescription drug manufacturers and importers on branded prescription drugs. The liability for the fee should be estimated and recorded in full upon the first qualifying sale with a corresponding deferred cost that is amortized to expense using a straight-line method of allocation over the calendar year that it is payable. ASU 2010-27 is effective for calendar years beginning on or after December 31, 2010, when the fee initially becomes effective. As the Company does not currently have a commercial product, the effect of this guidance will be limited to future transactions.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, *Presentation of Comprehensive Income* (ASU 2011-05) which is intended to facilitate the convergence of U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as well as to increase the transparency of items reported in other comprehensive income. As a result of ASU 2011-05, all nonowner changes in stockholders equity are required to be presented in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The option to present other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity has been eliminated. ASU 2011-05 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011 and should be applied retrospectively. The Company expects to adopt this standard beginning in 2012. As ASU 2011-05 impacts presentation only, it will have no effect on the Company s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

3. Initial Public Offering

In February 2010, the Company completed its initial public offering of Class A common stock pursuant to a registration statement that was declared effective on February 2, 2010. The Company sold 19,166,667 shares of its Class A common stock, which included 2,500,000 shares of the Company s Class A common stock sold pursuant to an over-allotment option granted to the underwriters, at a price to the public of \$11.25 per share. As a result of the initial public offering, the Company raised a total of \$215.6 million in gross proceeds, and approximately \$203.2 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and expenses.

Upon the closing of the initial public offering, 69,904,843 shares outstanding of the Company s convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 70,391,620 shares of its Class B common stock.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

4. Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share is calculated as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

	Three Months End	ded Se	•	Nine Months End	led Sep	,
	2011		2010	2011		2010
Numerator:						
Net loss from continuing operations	\$ (20,633)	\$	(13,114) \$	(57,878)	\$	(44,760)
Net income from discontinued operations			6,367			4,551
Less: net income from discontinued operations						
attributable to noncontrolling interest			(1,523)			(1,121)
Net income from discontinued operations						
attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.			4,844			3,430
Net loss attributable to Ironwood						
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	\$ (20,633)	\$	(8,270) \$	(57,878)	\$	(41,330)
Denominator:						
Weighted average number of common shares						
used in net income (loss) per share attributable to						
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. basic and diluted	100,174,100		97,925,657	99,699,545		86,633,080
Net loss per share associated with continuing						
operations	\$ (0.21)	\$	(0.13) \$	(0.58)	\$	(0.52)
Net income per share associated with						
discontinued operations attributable to Ironwood						
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	\$	\$	0.05 \$		\$	0.04
Net loss per share attributable to Ironwood						
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. basic and diluted	\$ (0.21)	\$	(0.08) \$	(0.58)	\$	(0.48)

The net income attributable to noncontrolling interest is reflected in the net income from discontinued operations for purposes of segregating the earnings per share calculation between continuing and discontinued operations.

The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, as they would be anti-dilutive:

At September 30,

	2011	2010
Options to purchase common stock	15,861,198	14,580,846
Shares subject to repurchase	181,807	311,841
	16,043,005	14,892,687

5. Collaboration and License Agreements

Forest Laboratories, Inc.

In September 2007, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Forest to jointly develop and commercialize linaclotide, a drug candidate for the treatment of IBS-C, CC and other gastrointestinal conditions, in North America. Under the terms of this collaboration agreement, the Company shares equally with Forest all development costs, as well as potential future profits and losses from the development and sale of linaclotide in the U.S. The Company will receive royalties from Forest for sales in Canada and Mexico. The Company retained the rights to commercialize linaclotide outside of North America. Forest made non-refundable, up-front payments totaling \$70.0 million to the Company in order to obtain rights to linaclotide in North America. Because the license to jointly develop and commercialize linaclotide did not have standalone value without the research and development activities provided by the Company, the Company is recognizing the up-front license fee as revenue on a straight-line basis over 60 months, which is the Company s estimate of the period over which linaclotide will be jointly developed under the collaboration. At September 30, 2011, approximately \$13.4 million of the up-front license fee remains deferred and is being recognized on a straight-line basis

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

over the remaining estimated development period. The collaboration agreement also includes contingent milestone payments, as well as a contingent equity investment based on the achievement of specific development and commercial milestones. These payments, including the up-front license fee, could total up to \$330.0 million if certain development and sales milestones are achieved for linaclotide. At September 30, 2011, \$100.0 million in license fees and milestone payments has already been received and Forest made the equity investment when it purchased \$25.0 million of the Company s capital stock. Of the remaining milestones, each of which the Company considers substantive, pre-commercial milestone payments could total up to \$20.0 million upon NDA acceptance by the FDA and up to \$85.0 million upon NDA approval. The Company can also achieve up to approximately \$100.0 million in a sales related milestone if certain conditions are met.

The collaboration agreement included a contingent equity investment, in the form of a forward purchase contract, which required Forest to purchase shares of the Company s convertible preferred stock, upon achievement of a specific clinical milestone. Based on the Company s evaluation, this financial instrument was considered an asset or liability, which was required to be carried at fair value. At the inception of the arrangement, the Company valued the contingent equity investment and recorded a \$9.0 million asset and incremental deferred revenue. The \$9.0 million of incremental deferred revenue is being recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the period of the Company s continuing involvement, which was estimated to be 60 months from the inception of the arrangement. At September 30, 2011, approximately \$1.7 million of the incremental deferred revenue remains deferred. In July 2009, the Company achieved the clinical milestone triggering the equity investment and reclassified the forward purchase contract as a reduction to convertible preferred stock. The Company issued the 2,083,333 shares to Forest on September 1, 2009.

Additionally, the Company has achieved two of the development milestones under this agreement, both of which the Company determined to be substantive. In September 2008, the Company achieved a clinical milestone which triggered a \$10.0 million milestone payment and in July 2009, the Company achieved a second clinical milestone which triggered a \$20.0 million milestone payment. At September 30, 2011, approximately \$1.9 million and \$3.8 million of the milestone payments, respectively, remain deferred and are being recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining estimated development period.

The Company recognized revenue from the Forest collaboration agreement totaling approximately \$5.5 million during both the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 and approximately \$16.4 million during both the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

Further, because the Company shares development costs equally with Forest, payments from Forest with respect to research and development costs incurred by the Company are recorded as a reduction to expense, and not as revenue. As a result of the cost-sharing arrangements under the collaboration, the Company offset approximately \$0.3 million and \$7.2 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately \$4.5 million and \$12.9 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively, against research and development expense.

Almirall, S.A.

In April 2009, the Company entered into a license agreement with Almirall for European rights to develop and commercialize linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C, CC and other gastrointestinal conditions. Under the terms of the license agreement, Almirall is responsible for the expenses associated with the development and commercialization of linaclotide in the European territory. The license agreement requires the Company to participate on a joint development committee over linaclotide s development period. The Company will receive escalating royalties from the sales of linaclotide in the European territory. In May 2009, the Company received a \$38.0 million payment from Almirall representing a \$40.0 million non-refundable up-front payment net of foreign withholding taxes. The Company elected to record the non-refundable up-front payment on a net basis. Because the license to develop and commercialize linaclotide did not have standalone value without the research and development activities provided by the Company, the Company is recognizing the up-front license fee as revenue on a straight-line basis over the development period, the Company s estimate of the period over which linaclotide will be developed under the license agreement for the European territory. In June 2011, the Company revised its estimate of the development period from 50 months to 41 months and adjusted its amortization of the remaining deferred revenue accordingly. At September 30, 2011, approximately \$14.3 million of the up-front license fee remains deferred. The license agreement also includes contingent milestone payments, as well as a contingent equity investment, that could total up to \$55.0 million upon achievement of specific clinical and sales milestones. At September 30, 2011, \$19.0 million, net of foreign withholding taxes, in milestone payments has already been received and Almirall made the equity investment when it purchased \$15.0 million of the Company s capital stock. Remaining pre-commercial milestone payments, each of which

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

considers substantive, consist of \$4.0 million due upon the first commercial launch in each of the five major E.U. countries set forth in the agreement.

The license agreement included a contingent equity investment, in the form of a forward purchase contract, which required Almirall to purchase shares of the Company's convertible preferred stock, upon achievement of a specific clinical milestone. Based on the Company's evaluation, this financial instrument was considered an asset or liability, which was required to be carried at fair value. The contingent equity investment was valued at inception at its fair value. At the inception of the arrangement, the Company valued the contingent equity investment and recorded a \$6.0 million asset and incremental deferred revenue. The \$6.0 million of incremental deferred revenue is being recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the period of the Company's continuing involvement, which was originally estimated to be 50 months and was revised in June 2011 to 41 months. The reduction in the development period was recorded as a change in estimate and deferred revenue will be recorded over the revised period on a prospective basis. At September 30, 2011, approximately \$2.3 million of the incremental deferred revenue remains deferred. In November 2009, the Company achieved the clinical milestone triggering the equity investment and reclassified the forward purchase contract as a reduction to convertible preferred stock. On November 13, 2009, the Company received \$15.0 million from Almirall for the purchase of 681,819 shares of convertible preferred stock.

In November 2010, the Company achieved a second development milestone under the Almirall license agreement, which the Company determined to be substantive, which resulted in a \$19.0 million payment, representing a \$20.0 million milestone, net of foreign withholding taxes. The Company recognized revenue of approximately \$7.2 million upon achievement of the milestone. This amount represented the portion of the milestone payment equal to the applicable percentage of the performance period that had elapsed as of the date the milestone was achieved. The remainder of the balance was deferred, and is being recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining development period. At September 30, 2011, approximately \$7.1 million of the milestone payment remains deferred.

The Company recognized approximately \$5.9 million and \$14.6 million in total revenue from the Almirall license agreement during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, including approximately \$0 and \$0.5 million, respectively, from the sale of API to Almirall. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company recognized approximately \$2.6 million and \$8.3 million, respectively, in total revenue from the Almirall license agreement, including approximately \$0 and \$0.4 million, respectively, from the sale of API to Almirall.

Astellas Pharma Inc.

On November 9, 2009, the Company entered into a license agreement with Astellas. Astellas has the right to develop and commercialize linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C, CC and other gastrointestinal conditions in Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, Thailand, Philippines and Indonesia. Under the terms of the agreement, Astellas paid the Company an up-front licensing fee of \$30.0 million on November 16, 2009. The

license agreement requires the Company to participate on a joint development committee over linaclotide s development period. The agreement includes additional development milestone payments, each of which the Company considers substantive, that could total up to \$45.0 million. These milestone payments consist of \$15.0 million upon initiation of a Phase 3 study for linaclotide in Japan, \$15.0 million upon filing of the Japanese equivalent of an NDA with the relevant regulatory authority in Japan, and \$15.0 million upon approval of such equivalent by the relevant regulatory authority. In addition, the Company will receive escalating royalties on linaclotide sales should Astellas receive approval to market and sell linaclotide in the Asian market. Astellas will be responsible for activities relating to regulatory approval and commercialization. Because the license to develop and commercialize linaclotide did not have standalone value without the research and development activities provided by the Company, the Company is recognizing the up-front license fee as revenue on a straight-line basis over 115 months, which is the Company s estimate of the period over which linaclotide will be developed under the license agreement for the Asian market. At September 30, 2011, approximately \$25.0 million of the up-front license fee remains deferred. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, the Company recognized approximately \$0.9 million and \$2.7 million, respectively, in revenue from the Astellas license agreement, including approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million, respectively, from the sale of clinical materials to Astellas. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company recognized approximately \$1.0 million and \$2.4 million, respectively, in revenue from the Astellas license agreement, including approximately \$0.2 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, from the sale of clinical materials to Astellas.

7D 1	1			_			
Tal	٦I	е	Λt	('	Λn	tei	1tc

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc.

The Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc. and Protagonist Pty Ltd. (collectively Protagonist) in January 2011. Under this agreement, Protagonist will use its proprietary technology platform to discover peptides against certain targets and the Company has the rights to develop and commercialize these peptides. In connection with entering into the agreement, the Company made an up-front payment to Protagonist of approximately \$2.8 million. In accordance with the applicable accounting guidance, the Company expensed the up-front payment as research and development expense. The Company also funds full-time equivalents for Protagonist s drug discovery activities, and will make certain milestone and royalty payments pending the achievement of certain development and commercialization milestones. The Company will expense these payments as incurred. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, the Company recorded approximately \$0.6 million and \$4.4 million, respectively, in research and development expense, including the up-front payment, associated with the Protagonist agreement.

Depomed, Inc.

On July 27, 2011, the Company entered into a collaboration and license agreement with Depomed, Inc. (Depomed) in which it has licensed the rights to Depomed s Acuform gastric retentive drug delivery technology. In connection with entering into the agreement, the Company made an up-front payment to Depomed of approximately \$0.9 million. In accordance with the applicable accounting guidance, the Company expensed the up-front payment as research and development expense. The Company also funds full-time equivalents of certain of Depomed s development activities, and could make certain milestone and royalty payments pending the achievement of certain development and commercialization milestones. The Company will expense these payments as incurred. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, the Company recorded approximately \$1.0 million in research and development expense, including the up-front payment, associated with the Depomed agreement.

6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The tables below present information about the Company s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques the Company utilized to determine such fair value. In general, fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize data points that are either directly or indirectly observable, such as quoted prices, interest rates and yield curves. Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs utilize unobservable data points in which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its own assumptions for the asset or liability.

The Company s investment portfolio includes many fixed income securities that do not always trade on a daily basis. As a result, the pricing services used by the Company applied other available information as applicable through processes such as benchmark yields, benchmarking of like securities, sector groupings and matrix pricing to prepare evaluations. In addition, model processes were used to assess interest rate impact and develop prepayment scenarios. These models take into consideration relevant credit information, perceived market movements, sector news and economic events. The inputs into these models may include benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads and other relevant data.

The Company has classified assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as follows (in thousands):

			Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using							
Description	S	eptember 30, 2011		Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Si	gnificant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)			
Money market funds (included in cash and										
cash equivalents)	\$	61,495	\$	61,495	\$		\$			
U.S. government-sponsored securities		54,326				54,326				
U.S. Treasury securities		51,983		51,983						
Total	\$	167,804	\$	113,478	\$	54,326	\$			

17

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

			Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using								
	December 31,			Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets	S	Significant Other Observable Inputs	Significant Unobservable Inputs				
Description		2010		(Level 1)		(Level 2)	(Level 3)				
Money market funds (included in cash and											
cash equivalents)	\$	36,228	\$	36,228	\$		\$				
U.S. government-sponsored securities											
(included in cash and cash equivalents)		2,998				2,998					
U.S. Treasury securities		116,219		116,219							
U.S. government-sponsored securities		87,487				87,487					
Total	\$	242,932	\$	152,447	\$	90,485	\$				

Cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and the current portion of capital lease obligations at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 are carried at amounts that approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities.

Capital lease obligations at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 approximate fair value as they bear interest at a rate approximating a market interest rate.

7. Available-for-Sale Investments

The following tables summarize the available-for-sale securities held at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

Amortized Cost

	Aı	nortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains		Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
September 30, 2011:						
U.S. government-sponsored securities	\$	54,344	\$	4	\$ (22) \$	54,326
U.S. Treasury securities		51,959		24		51,983
Total	\$	106,303	\$	28	\$ (22) \$	106,309

Gross

Unrealized

Gross

Unrealized

Fair Value

		Ga	ains	Losses	
December 31, 2010:					
U.S. government-sponsored securities	\$ 87,503	\$	3	\$ (19) \$	87,487
U.S. Treasury securities	116,200		24	(5)	116,219
Total	\$ 203,703	\$	27	\$ (24) \$	203,706

The contractual maturity of all securities held at September 30, 2011 was one year or less. There were sixteen investments in an unrealized loss position at September 30, 2011, none of which had been in an unrealized loss position for more than twelve months. The aggregate fair value of these securities was approximately \$44.6 million. The Company reviews its investments for other-than-temporary impairment whenever the fair value of an investment is less than amortized cost and evidence indicates that an investment s carrying amount is not recoverable within a reasonable period of time. To determine whether an impairment is other-than-temporary, the Company considers whether it has the ability and intent to hold the investment until a market price recovery and considers whether evidence indicating the cost of the investment is recoverable outweighs evidence to the contrary. The Company did not hold any securities with an other-than-temporary impairment at September 30, 2011.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

Gross realized gains and losses on the sales of investments have not been material to the Company s consolidated results of operations.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its facility and various equipment under leases that expire at varying dates through 2018. Certain of these leases contain renewal options, and require the Company to pay operating costs, including property taxes, insurance and maintenance.

In January 2007, the Company entered into a lease agreement for 113,646 rentable square feet of office and lab space at 301 Binney Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts. The initial term of the lease is eight years expiring in January 2016, and the Company has the right to extend the initial term for two additional terms of five years each. The Company is occupancy of the space occurred in four distinct phases, and rent for each phase commenced at the earlier of a contractually set date or the occupancy date. Base rent for the space ranges from \$49.25 to \$60.50 per rentable square foot per year. Base rent escalates in January 2012 based upon a formula that is tied to the Consumer Price Index. The space was delivered to the Company in September 2007, and rent payments for the initial occupancy commenced in January 2008. The rent expense, inclusive of the escalating rent payments and free rent period is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease agreement. In accordance with the terms of the lease agreement, in the second quarter of 2010, the Company increased the letter of credit securing its obligations under the lease agreement by approximately \$2.3 million.

The Company amended the lease agreement in February 2010, July 2010 and February 2011 (together the Amendments) in order to lease additional space. Pursuant to the Amendments, the Company leases an additional 80,340 rentable square feet of the 301 Binney Street building, comprised of (a) an initial phase of 35,444 rentable square feet (the Initial Phase), (b) a second phase of 21,589 rentable square feet (the Second Phase) and (c) a third phase of 23,307 rentable square feet (the Third Phase). Rent for the Initial Phase commenced on July 1, 2010, rent for the Second Phase commenced on March 1, 2011 and rent for the Third Phase will commence no later than February 15, 2012. Initial base rent for the Initial Phase is \$42.00 per rentable square foot per year and the initial base rent for the Second Phase and Third Phase is \$42.50 per rentable square foot per year. Base rent for the Initial Phase, Second Phase and Third Phase will increase annually by \$0.50 per rentable square foot. The Amendments do not change the expiration date of the lease agreement.

The landlord has reimbursed the Company for its tenant improvements for the space occupied prior to the Amendments at a set rate per rentable square foot. Under the terms of the Amendments, the landlord has or will provide the Company with an allowance for the expansion space, which consists of \$55.00 per rentable square foot for tenant improvements in the Initial Phase and the Second Phase and an allowance of \$40.00 per rentable square foot for the Third Phase. As of September 30, 2011, approximately \$15.9 million has been paid to the Company as reimbursement for tenant improvements under the lease agreement, including the Amendments. The reimbursement amount is recorded as deferred rent on the condensed consolidated balance sheets and is being amortized as a reduction to rent expense over the term of the lease agreement.

The Company, and in some cases, along with its collaboration partner, Forest, has entered into multiple commercial supply agreements for the purchase of linaclotide API and drug product. Some of the agreements contain minimum purchase commitments, the earliest of which commences in 2012. As of September 30, 2011, the Company s minimum purchase requirement across all the agreements is approximately \$45.0 million through 2017.

9. Restricted Stock

In 2009, the Company granted an aggregate of 515,549 shares of common stock to independent members of the board of directors under restricted stock agreements in accordance with the terms of the Company s Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (2005 Plan) and the Company s director compensation program. 115,549 shares of restricted common stock granted in 2009 vested on December 31, 2009 and the remainder vest ratably over four years beginning in January 2010. In the event that a member of the board ceases to serve on the Company s board prior to December 31, 2013, the member shall forfeit all unvested shares in accordance with the terms of the restricted stock agreement.

19

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

A summary of the unvested shares of restricted stock as of September 30, 2011 is presented below:

	Shares	Weighted Averag Grant Date Fair Value	e
Unvested at December 31, 2010	270,000	\$	5.69
Granted		\$	
Vested	(62,500)	\$	5.71
Forfeited	(27,500)	\$	5.48
Unvested at September 30, 2011	180,000	\$	5.72

10. Stock Option Plans

The Company has several share-based compensation plans under which stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and other share-based awards are available for grant to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, options for 3,013,488 and 5,574,857 shares, respectively, were available for future grant under the plans.

In calculating share-based compensation costs, the Company estimated the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of short-lived, exchange-traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. The Company estimates the number of awards that will be forfeited in calculating compensation costs. Such costs are then recognized over the requisite service period of the awards on a straight-line basis.

Determining the fair value of share-based awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected term of the award and expected stock price volatility. The weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model were as follows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010:

	Three Months E September 3		Nine Months Septembe	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Expected volatility	49.6%	57.5%	43.5%	57.7%
Expected term (in years)	6.5	6.5	6.5	6.5

Risk-free interest rate	2.2%	2.3%	2.7%	3.0%
Expected dividend yield	%	%	%	%

The following table summarizes the expense recognized for these share-based compensation arrangements in the condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended					Nine Months Ended			
		Septen	nber 30,		September 30,				
	2011 2010					2011		2010	
Ironwood:									
Employee stock options	\$	2,645	\$	1,572	\$	7,888	\$	4,437	
Restricted stock awards		108		121		323		348	
Non-employee stock options		35		127		113		185	
ESPP		67		55		165		55	
Stock awards		7		8		22		111	
		2,862		1,883		8,511		5,136	
Microbia Stock Plan (included in discontinued operations)				14				59	
	\$	2,862	\$	1,897	\$	8,511	\$	5,195	

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

Share-based compensation is reflected in the condensed consolidated statements of operations as follows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

	Three Mo	nths Ende	d	Nine Months Ended					
	Septem	ıber 30,		September 30,					
	2011		2010	2011	2010				
Research and development	\$ 1,653	\$	1,093	\$ 4,456	\$	2,849			
General and administrative	1,209		790	4,055		2,287			
Net loss from discontinued operations			14			59			

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the share-based compensation plans, including performance-based options:

	Shares of Common Stock Attributable to Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Weighted Average Contractual Life (in years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2010	14,603,229	\$ 4.25	6.44	\$ 91,575
Granted	2,783,550	\$ 12.13		
Exercised	(1,308,892)	\$ 1.80		
Cancelled	(216,689)	\$ 8.32		
Outstanding at September 30, 2011	15,861,198	\$ 5.78	6.48	\$ 84,672
Vested or expected to vest at September 30, 2011	14,545,649	\$ 5.72	6.41	\$ 78,389
Exercisable at September 30, 2011(1)	6,880,386	\$ 3.24	4.96	\$ 52,446

⁽¹⁾ All stock options granted under the 1998 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan, the Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2005 Plan contain provisions allowing for the early exercise of such options into restricted stock. The exercisable shares disclosed above represent those that are vested as of September 30, 2011.

The weighted average grant date fair value per share of options granted to employees during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 was approximately \$7.86 and \$6.32, respectively, and approximately \$6.04 and \$6.58 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively. The grant date fair value of the options granted to employees during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 was approximately \$2.7 million and \$17.6 million, respectively, and approximately \$2.2 million and \$14.7 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 was approximately \$2.6 million and \$15.4 million, respectively, and approximately \$5.7 million and \$14.1

million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.

As of September 30, 2011, there was approximately \$1.0 million and \$23.7 million of unrecognized share-based compensation, net of estimated forfeitures, related to restricted stock awards and unvested stock option grants with time-based vesting, respectively, which are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.3 years and 3.1 years, respectively. The total unrecognized share-based compensation cost will be adjusted for future changes in estimated forfeitures.

11. Related Party Transactions

The Company has and currently obtains legal services from a law firm that is an investor in the Company. The Company paid approximately \$29,000 and \$124,000 in legal fees to this investor during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately \$96,000 and \$196,000 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.

Table of Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

In September 2009, Forest became a related party when the Company sold to Forest 2,083,333 shares of the Company s convertible preferred stock and in November 2009, Almirall became a related party when the Company sold to Almirall 681,819 shares of the Company s convertible preferred stock (Note 5).

12. Segment Reporting

Prior to the sale of its interest in Microbia in September 2010, the Company had two reportable business segments: human therapeutics and biomanufacturing. The Company has no inter-segment revenues.

The following table reports revenue and loss from operations for the Company s reportable segments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

	Three Months End	led Sep	· /	Nine Months Ended September 30,			
	2011		2010	2011		2010	
Revenue:							
Human therapeutics	\$ 12,218	\$	9,059 \$	33,717	\$	27,085	
Biomanufacturing (included in discontinued							
operations)						1,985	
Total	\$ 12,218	\$	9,059 \$	33,717	\$	29,070	
Loss from operations:							
Human therapeutics	\$ (21,616)	\$	(16,165)\$	(59,110)	\$	(47,971)	
Biomanufacturing (included in discontinued							
operations)			(2,790)			(4,531)	
Total	\$ (21,616)	\$	(18,955)\$	(59,110)	\$	(52,502)	

	Se	eptember 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
Total assets:			
Human therapeutics	\$	219,480 \$	301,365
Biomanufacturing (included in discontinued operations)			
Total	\$	219,480 \$	301,365

At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, all of the Company s accounts receivable related to the human therapeutics segment.

13. State Grant

In May 2011, the Company recorded approximately \$0.9 million as a receivable associated with the Life Sciences Tax Incentive Program from the Massachusetts Life Sciences Center. The program was established in 2008 in order to incentivize life sciences companies to create new sustained jobs in Massachusetts. Jobs must be maintained for at least five years, during which time the grant proceeds can be recovered by the Massachusetts Department of Revenue (DOR) if the Company does not meet and maintain its job creation commitments. The Company received the funds in July 2011 and recognized the award as other income in its condensed consolidated statement of operations in September 2011, as the Company believes it has satisfied its job creation commitments. The Company s hiring plan for 2011-2015 is significantly in excess of the hiring requirement for the 5 year period, as such, the Company believes that the likelihood of recovery of the award by the DOR is remote.

Tab]	le of	Contents

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

14. Subsequent Events

In October 2011, the Company entered into a Fifth Amendment to its lease for 301 Binney Street. Under the amended lease, the Company leases an additional 21,717 square feet of the 301 Binney Street building. Rent for the additional space commences no later than June 1, 2012 and base rent will be \$42.50 per rentable square foot per year, and will increase annually by \$0.50 per rentable square foot. The landlord will provide the Company with a finish work allowance of \$40.00 per rentable square foot of additional space rented pursuant to this amendment. The Amendment does not change the January 2016 expiration date of the original lease.

On October 24, 2011, the Company and Forest announced that the FDA accepted the NDA for IBS-C and CC for review. As a result, the Company achieved two pre-commercial milestones under which it will receive total milestone payments of \$20.0 million (Note 5).

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Information

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the notes to those financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2010 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve significant risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set forth under Risk Factors in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which are incorporated herein by reference, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are an entrepreneurial pharmaceutical company that discovers, develops and intends to commercialize differentiated medicines that improve patients lives. To achieve this, we are building a team, a culture and processes centered on creating and marketing important new drugs. We believe that linaclotide, our guanylate cyclase type-C, or GC-C, agonist being developed for the treatment of patients with irritable bowel syndrome with constipation, or IBS-C, or chronic constipation, or CC, could present patients and healthcare practitioners with a unique therapy for a major medical need not yet met by existing therapies. Linaclotide is our only product candidate that has demonstrated clinical proof of concept. On August 9, 2011, we and our U.S. collaboration partner, Forest Laboratories, Inc., or Forest, announced that we submitted a New Drug Application, or NDA, for the treatment of IBS-C and CC with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA. On October 24, 2011, we and Forest announced that the FDA accepted the NDA for review. On September 29, 2011, we and our European partner, Almirall, S.A., or Almirall, each announced that Almirall submitted a Market Authorization Application, or MAA, to the European Medicines Agency, or EMA for linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C. In addition to linaclotide, we have a pipeline of early stage, pre-proof of concept development candidates in multiple therapeutic areas, including gastrointestinal disease, pain and inflammation, and respiratory disease. We are also conducting early stage, preclinical research in these therapeutic areas, as well as in the area of cardiovascular disease. We have pursued a partnering strategy for commercializing linaclotide that has enabled us to retain significant control over linaclotide s development and commercialization, share the costs with high-quality collaborators whose capabilities complement ours, and retain approximately half of linaclotide s future long-term value in the major pharmaceutical markets, should linaclotide meet our sa

We were incorporated in Delaware as Microbia, Inc. (which was the name of our formerly majority-owned subsidiary), on January 5, 1998. On April 7, 2008, we changed our name to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Prior to September 2010, we held a majority ownership interest in Microbia, Inc. (formerly known as Microbia Precision Engineering), a subsidiary formed in September 2006. Microbia, Inc., or Microbia, engaged in a specialty biochemicals business based on a proprietary strain-development platform. On September 21, 2010, we sold our interest in Microbia to DSM Holding Company USA, Inc., or DSM, in exchange for cash proceeds of \$9.5 million, the payment of approximately \$1.1 million of Microbia debt and interest by DSM and future contingent consideration based on the sale of products incorporating Microbia s technology.

We currently operate in one reportable business segment human therapeutics. Our human therapeutics segment consists of the development and commercialization of our product candidates, including linaclotide. Prior to the sale of our interest in Microbia, we also operated in the

biomanufacturing segment. Our biomanufacturing segment, which comprised a much smaller part of our business, consisted of our majority ownership interest in Microbia. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, results of operations of our biomanufacturing segment are included in net income from discontinued operations in our financial statements.

To date, we have dedicated substantially all of our activities to the research and development of our product candidates. We have not generated any revenue to date from product sales and have incurred significant operating losses since our inception in 1998. We incurred net losses attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of approximately \$20.6 million and \$57.9 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately \$8.3 million and \$41.3 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively. As of September 30, 2011, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately \$425.4 million and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future.

Financial Overview

Revenue. Revenue to date from our human therapeutics segment is generated primarily through our collaboration agreement with Forest, and our license agreements with Almirall, and Astellas Pharma Inc., or Astellas. The terms of these agreements include

24

Table of Contents

payment to us of one or more of the following: non-refundable, up-front license fees; milestone payments; payments for providing active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API; and royalties on product sales. Revenue from our human therapeutics segment is shown in our condensed consolidated statements of operations as collaborative arrangements revenue. As a result of the sale of our interest in Microbia, as discussed above, revenue from our biomanufacturing segment is included in net income from discontinued operations. We expect our revenue to fluctuate for the foreseeable future as our collaborative arrangements revenue is principally based on the achievement of pre-commercial and commercial milestones. During the fourth quarter of 2011, we expect an increase in our collaborative arrangements revenue as we achieved the pre-commercial milestones related to the FDA succeptance of our NDA in October 2011, resulting in milestone payments of \$20.0 million due from Forest.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense consists of expenses incurred in connection with the discovery and development of our product candidates. These expenses consist primarily of compensation, benefits and other employee related expenses, research and development related facility costs and third-party contract costs relating to research, formulation, manufacturing, preclinical study and clinical trial activities. The costs of revenue related to the Microbia services contracts and costs associated with Microbia s research and development activities are included in net income from discontinued operations. We charge all research and development expenses to operations as incurred. Under our Forest collaboration agreement we are reimbursed for certain research and development expenses, and we net these reimbursements against our research and development expenses as incurred.

Our lead product candidate is linaclotide and it represents the largest portion of our research and development expense for our product candidates. Linaclotide is a first-in-class compound being developed for the treatment of IBS-C and CC and is our only product candidate that has demonstrated clinical proof of concept. Linaclotide achieved positive results in each of our two Phase 3 IBS-C trials and in each of our two Phase 3 CC trials. An NDA for linaclotide with respect to both IBS-C and CC was submitted to the FDA and accepted for review in October 2011, and an MAA for linaclotide for IBS-C was submitted to the EMA in September 2011. We have a pipeline of early stage, pre-proof of concept development candidates in multiple therapeutic areas, including gastrointestinal disease, pain and inflammation, and respiratory disease. We are also conducting early stage, preclinical research in these therapeutic areas, as well as in the area of cardiovascular disease.

The following table sets forth our research and development expenses related to our product pipeline for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010. These expenses relate primarily to external costs associated with manufacturing, preclinical studies and clinical trial costs. Costs related to facilities, depreciation, share-based compensation and research and development support services are not directly charged to programs.

	Three Mor	ths Ende	d	Nine Months Ended				
	Septem			September 30,				
	2011		2010		2011		2010	
	(in thousands)				(in thousands)			
Demonstrated clinical proof of concept	\$ 6,290	\$	5,507	\$	15,241	\$	20,716	
Early stage, pre-proof of concept	3,916		3,727		9,328		9,005	
Early stage, preclinical	3,606		1,466		10,813		4,637	

We began tracking program expenses for linaclotide in 2004, and research and development program expenses from inception to September 30, 2011 were approximately \$138.6 million. The expenses for linaclotide include both reimbursements to us by Forest as well as our portion of costs incurred by Forest for linaclotide and invoiced to us under the cost-sharing provisions of our collaboration agreement.

The lengthy process of securing FDA approvals for new drugs requires the expenditure of substantial resources. Any failure by us to obtain, or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approvals would materially adversely affect our product development efforts and our business overall. Accordingly, we cannot currently estimate with any degree of certainty the amount of time or money that we will be required to expend in the future on linaclotide or our other product candidates prior to their regulatory approval, if such approval is ever granted. As a result of these uncertainties surrounding the timing and outcome of any approvals, we are currently unable to estimate precisely when, if ever, linaclotide, or any of our other product candidates will generate revenues and cash flows.

We invest carefully in our pipeline, and the commitment of funding for each subsequent stage of our development programs is dependent upon the receipt of clear, supportive data. In addition, we are actively engaged in evaluating externally-discovered drug candidates at all stages of development. In evaluating potential assets, we apply the same criteria as those used for investments in internally-discovered assets.

Table of Contents

Historically, the majority of our external costs are related to linaclotide, as costs associated with later stage clinical trials are, in most cases, more significant than those incurred in earlier stages. We expect external costs related to the linaclotide program to continue to decrease provided that no other clinical trials are necessary to obtain regulatory approval in the U.S. If our other product candidates are successful in early stage clinical trials, we would expect external costs to increase as the programs progress through later stage clinical trials. Additionally, we expect our external costs to increase as we invest in externally-discovered drug candidates through arrangements such as our collaboration with Protagonist Therapeutics, Inc. and Protagonist Pty Ltd. (collectively Protagonist) and Depomed, Inc., or Depomed. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, we recorded approximately \$1.6 million and \$5.4 million, respectively, in early stage, preclinical research and development expense associated with the Protagonist and Depomed agreements, including combined up-front payments of approximately \$3.7 million. The remainder of our research and development expense is not tracked by project as it consists primarily of our internal costs, and it benefits multiple projects that are in earlier stages of development and which typically share resources.

The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain and subject to a number of risks including, but not limited to:	Γh	e successful develo	opment of	our product	candidates is hi	ighly ι	uncertain and	d subject to	a number	of risk	s inclu	ding,	but not	limited	to:
--	----	---------------------	-----------	-------------	------------------	---------	---------------	--------------	----------	---------	---------	-------	---------	---------	-----

- The duration of clinical trials may vary substantially according to the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidate.
- The FDA and comparable agencies in foreign countries impose substantial requirements on the introduction of therapeutic pharmaceutical products, typically requiring lengthy and detailed laboratory and clinical testing procedures, sampling activities and other costly and time-consuming procedures.
- Data obtained from nonclinical and clinical activities at any step in the testing process may be adverse and lead to discontinuation or redirection of development activity. Data obtained from these activities also are susceptible to varying interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.
- The duration and cost of discovery, nonclinical studies and clinical trials may vary significantly over the life of a product candidate and are difficult to predict.
- The costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of a product candidate may not be favorable.
- The emergence of competing technologies and products and other adverse market developments may negatively impact us.

As a result of the uncertainties discussed above, we are unable to determine the duration and costs to complete current or future preclinical and clinical stages of our product candidates or when, or to what extent, we will generate revenues from the commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates. Development timelines, probability of success and development costs vary widely. We anticipate that we will make determinations as to which additional programs to pursue and how much funding to direct to each program on an ongoing basis in response to the scientific and clinical data of each product candidate, as well as ongoing assessments of such product candidate s commercial potential.

We expect our research and development costs to continue to be substantial for the foreseeable future and to increase with respect to our product candidates other than linaclotide, including externally-discovered product candidates, as we advance those product candidates through preclinical studies and clinical trials.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense consists primarily of compensation, benefits and other employee related expenses for personnel in our administrative, finance, legal, information technology, corporate development, commercial and human resource functions. Other costs include the legal costs of pursuing patent protection of our intellectual property, general and administrative related facility costs and professional fees for accounting and legal services. As a result of our initial public offering, or IPO, in February 2010, we experienced increases in general and administrative expense relating to operating as a public company. These increases included legal fees, accounting fees, costs associated with implementing and complying with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Protection Act of 2010 and fees for investor relations services. We anticipate general and administrative expenses to continue to increase as we develop our infrastructure and organization necessary to commercialize and support linaclotide.

Table of Contents

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S., or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. These estimates and assumptions, including those related to revenue recognition, available-for-sale securities, impairments of long-lived assets, income taxes including the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, research and development expenses, contingencies and share-based compensation are monitored and analyzed by us for changes in facts and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. Prior to our IPO, we also evaluated our estimates and judgments regarding the fair value assigned to our common stock. These critical estimates and assumptions are based on our historical experience, our observance of trends in the industry, and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances and form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from our estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, we adopted Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, No. 2009-13, *Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements*, or ASU 2009-13, and ASU No. 2010-17, *Revenue Recognition Milestone Method*, or ASU 2010-17, as discussed in Note 2, *Summary of Significant Accounting Policies*, to our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Other than the adoption of these two standards, there have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies. In June 2011, we revised our estimate of the development period associated with our Almirall license agreement from 50 months to 41 months and adjusted the amortization of the remaining deferred revenue accordingly. Other than this change in estimate, there were no other significant changes in our critical accounting estimates, including as a result of the adoption of these standards. See Note 2 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 30, 2011 for additional information about these critical accounting policies, as well as a description of our other significant accounting policies.

As a result of the sale of our interest in Microbia, we have presented the assets, liabilities, operations and cash flows of Microbia as discontinued operations for all periods presented prior to the sale.

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

The following discussion summarizes the key factors our management believes are necessary for an understanding of our condensed consolidated financial statements.

	Three Month	hs Ende	ed		d		
	Septemb	er 30,			Septem	ber 30,	
	2011		2010		2011	2010	
	(in thous				(in thou		
Collaborative arrangements revenue	\$ 12,218	\$	9,059	\$	33,717	\$	27,085
Operating expenses:							
Research and development	22,905		18,742		61,869		56,188
General and administrative	10,929		6,482		30,958		18,868
Total operating expenses	33,834		25,224		92,827		75,056
Loss from operations	(21,616)		(16,165)		(59,110)		(47,971)
Other income (expense):							
Interest expense	(16)		(81)		(49)		(178)
Interest and investment income	105		188		384		445
Other income	897				900		
Other income (expense), net	986		107		1,235		267
Net loss from continuing operations before income							
tax expense (benefit)	(20,630)		(16,058)		(57,875)		(47,704)
Income tax expense (benefit)	3		(2,944)		3		(2,944)
Net loss from continuing operations	(20,633)		(13,114)		(57,878)		(44,760)
Net income from discontinued operations			6,367				4,551
Net loss	(20,633)		(6,747)		(57,878)		(40,209)
Net income from discontinued operations							
attributable to noncontrolling interest			(1,523)				(1,121)
Net loss attributable to Ironwood							
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	\$ (20,633)	\$	(8,270)	\$	(57,878)	\$	(41,330)

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Revenue

	Three Months Ended September 30,				Change	Nine Months Ended Change September 30,						Change		
		2011 (do		2010 in thousan	ds)	\$	%	2011 (d	ollars	2010 in thousan	ds)	\$	%	
Collaborative arrangements		(23			/			(-						
revenue	\$	12,218	\$	9,059	\$	3,159	34.9% \$	33,717	\$	27,085	\$	6,632	24.5%	

Collaborative Arrangements Revenue. The increase in revenue of approximately \$3.2 million from collaborative arrangements for the three months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily related to the Almirall license agreement. The receipt of the \$19.0 million milestone payment, net of foreign withholding taxes, in November 2010 resulted in the recognition

of approximately \$1.8 million in revenue during the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared with none during the three months ended September 30, 2010. Additionally, in June 2011, we revised our estimate of the development period associated with the Almirall license agreement which resulted in approximately \$1.5 million in additional revenue recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2011 related to the up-front payment and the amortization of the deferred revenue associated with the forward purchase contract. These increases were partially offset as we recognized approximately \$0.1 million less in revenue in the three months ended September 30, 2011 from shipments of clinical trial materials to Almirall and Astellas than in the corresponding period in 2010.

The increase in revenue of approximately \$6.6 million from collaborative arrangements for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily due to the receipt of the \$19.0 million milestone payment, net of foreign withholding taxes, in November 2010 related to the Almirall license agreement. In the nine months ended September 30, 2011, we recognized approximately \$4.3 million related to this milestone payment compared with none during the nine months ended September 30, 2010. In June 2011, we revised our estimate of the development period associated with the Almirall

Table of Contents

license agreement which resulted in approximately \$2.0 million in additional revenue recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 related to the up-front payment and the amortization of the deferred revenue associated with the forward purchase contract. Additionally, we recognized approximately \$0.5 million more in revenue from the up-front license payment related to the Astellas agreement during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010, as the development period and related amortization did not commence until March 2010. These increases were partially offset as we recognized approximately \$0.1 million less in revenue in the nine months ended September 30, 2011 from shipments of clinical trial materials to Almirall and Astellas than in the corresponding period in 2010.

Operating Expenses

		Months Ended otember 30, 2010 (dollars in thousa)			Change \$ s)	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 2010 (dollars in thou			usand	Change \$ s)	%	
Operating Expenses:												
Research and development	\$ 22,905	\$	18,742	\$	4,163	22.2% \$	61,869	\$	56,188	\$	5,681	10.1%
General and administrative	10,929		6,482		4,447	68.6%	30,958		18,868		12,090	64.1%
Total operating expenses	\$ 33,834	\$	25,224	\$	8,610	34.1% \$	92,827	\$	75,056	\$	17,771	23.7%

Research and Development Expense. The increase in research and development expense of approximately \$4.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily due to an increase of approximately \$2.5 million in compensation, benefits, share-based compensation, and other employee related expenses primarily due to increased headcount, an increase of approximately \$1.6 million in external research costs related to the research and development fees paid to Protagonist and Depomed, and an increase of approximately \$0.3 million in support of linaclotide. The increased contract manufacturing expense of \$1.3 million was partially offset by a decrease of approximately \$1.0 million due to lower clinical trial and net collaboration reimbursements as our CC and IBS-C trials were completed at the end of 2010.

The increase in research and development expense of approximately \$5.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily due to an increase of approximately \$7.3 million in compensation, benefits, share-based compensation, and other employee related expenses primarily due to increased headcount, an increase of approximately \$5.4 million in external research costs related to the license and research and development fees paid to Protagonist and Depomed, and an increase of approximately \$1.0 million in external consulting costs primarily related to the preparation of the linaclotide NDA and developing the infrastructure to support post-approval compliance of linaclotide and an increase of approximately \$0.9 million in research and development related facilities and support costs associated with the additional space we leased in our 301 Binney Street facility, partially offset by a decrease of approximately \$8.8 million in support of the development of linaclotide, primarily resulting from lower clinical trial, manufacturing and net collaboration reimbursements as our CC and IBS-C trials were completed at the end of 2010.

General and Administrative Expense. The increase in general and administrative expense of approximately \$4.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010 was due to an increase of approximately \$2.2 million in compensation and benefits related expenses due to increased headcount, including share-based compensation expense primarily related to our new hire and annual stock option grants, an increase of approximately \$0.6 million in general and administrative related facilities costs associated with the additional space we leased in our 301 Binney Street facility, and an increase in external consulting costs, net of Forest reimbursement, of approximately \$1.4 million associated with developing the infrastructure to commercialize and support linaclotide.

The increase in general and administrative expense of approximately \$12.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily due to an increase of approximately \$5.6 million in compensation, benefits, and other employee related expenses primarily due to increased headcount, an increase of approximately \$1.7 million in share-based compensation expense primarily related to our new hire and annual stock option grants, an increase of approximately \$2.2 million in general and administrative related facilities costs associated with the additional space we leased in our 301 Binney Street facility, and an increase in external consulting costs, net of Forest reimbursement, of approximately \$2.2 million associated with developing the infrastructure to commercialize and support linaclotide.

Table of Contents

Other Income (Expense), Net

	Т	hree Mor Septem				Change		ľ	Nine Montl Septemb				Chang	e
	2	2011		010		\$	%		2011	-	2010		\$	%
		(dollars in thousands) (dollars in thousands							nds)					
Other income (expense):														
Interest expense	\$	(16)	\$	(81)	\$	65	80.2%	\$	(49)	\$	(178)	\$	129	72.5%
Interest and investment income		105		188		(83)	(44.1)%		384		445		(61)	(13.7)%
Other income		897				897	100.0%		900				900	100.0%
Total other income (expense),														
net	\$	986	\$	107	\$	879	821.5%	\$	1,235	\$	267	\$	968	362.5%

Interest Expense. The decrease in interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily the result of the repayment of the long-term debt in September 2010, partially offset by increased interest expense resulting from the capital leases we entered into in 2010 and 2011.

Interest and Investment Income. The decrease in interest and investment income for the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010 was due to lower average cash balances and interest rates during the three months ended September 30, 2011.

The decrease in interest and investment income for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010 was due to lower average cash balances during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ending September 30, 2010 resulting from the receipt of our IPO proceeds in February 2010.

Other Income. The increase in other income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily the result of the recognition of the Life Sciences Tax Incentive Program award of approximately \$0.9 million in September 2011.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit). The approximately \$2.9 million decrease in income tax benefit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was related to intra-period income tax allocation requirements for which we recorded a benefit for income taxes from continuing operations of approximately \$2.9 million, offset by an identical income tax provision from discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010. The intra-period income tax allocation considers discontinued operations for purposes of determining the amount of tax benefit that results from our loss from continuing operations.

Net Income From Discontinued Operations. The decrease in net income from discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was the result of the sale of Microbia, our former subsidiary, in September 2010.

Net Income From Discontinued Operations Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest. The decrease in net income from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interest for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was the result of the sale of Microbia, our former subsidiary, in September 2010.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table sets forth the major sources and uses of cash for each of the periods set forth below:

	Nine Months Ended							
	September 30,							
		2010						
Net cash (used in) provided by:								
Operating activities	\$	(67,536)	\$	(67,253)				
Investing activities		89,522		(198,571)				
Financing activities		2,513		202,214				
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	\$	24,499	\$	(63,610)				

Table of Contents

We have incurred losses since our inception on January 5, 1998 and, as of September 30, 2011, we had a cumulative deficit of approximately \$425.4 million. We have financed our operations to date primarily through the sale of preferred stock and common stock, including approximately \$203.2 million of net proceeds from our IPO, payments received under collaborative arrangements, including reimbursement of certain expenses, debt financings and interest earned on investments. At September 30, 2011, we had approximately \$175.1 million of unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities. Our cash and cash equivalents include amounts held in money market funds, stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair market value. Our available-for-sale securities include amounts held in U.S. government-sponsored securities and U.S. Treasury securities. We invest cash in excess of immediate requirements in accordance with our investment policy which limits the amounts we may invest in any one type of investment and requires all investments held by us to be A+ rated so as to primarily achieve liquidity and capital preservation.

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities totaled approximately \$67.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The primary uses of cash were our net loss from continuing operations of approximately \$57.9 million and a decrease of approximately \$27.3 million in working capital resulting primarily from reductions in deferred revenue as revenue was recognized from our collaboration and our license agreements. These uses of cash were partially offset by non-cash items of approximately \$17.7 million.

Net cash used in operating activities totaled approximately \$67.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010. The primary uses of cash were our net loss from continuing operations of approximately \$44.8 million, approximately \$6.0 million used in operating activities from discontinued operations and a decrease of approximately \$27.0 million in working capital resulting primarily from reductions in deferred revenue as revenue was recognized from our Forest collaboration agreement and our Almirall and Astellas license agreements. These uses of cash were partially offset by non-cash items of approximately \$10.5 million.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 totaled approximately \$89.5 million and resulted primarily from the sales and maturities of securities of approximately \$177.1 million, partially offset by the purchase of approximately \$81.5 million of securities and the purchase of approximately \$6.0 million of property and equipment associated with the expansion of our 301 Binney Street facility and our information technology infrastructure.

Cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 totaled approximately \$198.6 million and resulted primarily from the purchase of approximately \$322.3 million of securities related to the investment of the net proceeds of our IPO and the purchase of approximately \$15.1 million of property and equipment associated with the expansion of our 301 Binney Street facility. These uses of cash were partially offset by the sale and maturity of approximately \$129.3 million in investments and \$9.5 million in proceeds received from DSM for the sale of our interest in Microbia.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 totaled approximately \$2.5 million primarily resulting from approximately \$2.7 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options and the purchase of shares under the employee stock purchase plan, partially offset by payments on our capital leases.

Cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 totaled approximately \$202.2 million and resulted primarily from the net proceeds of our IPO of approximately \$203.2 million.

Funding Requirements

To date, we have not commercialized any products and have not achieved profitability. We anticipate that we will continue to incur substantial net losses for the next several years as we further develop and prepare for the potential commercial launch of linaclotide, continue to invest in our pipeline, develop the organization required to sell our product candidates and operate as a publicly traded company.

We have generated revenue from services, up-front license fees and milestones, but have not generated any product revenue since our inception and do not expect to generate any product revenue from our collaborative arrangements or the sale of products

Table of Contents

unless we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale of linaclotide. We believe that our cash on hand as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and additional cash milestone payments we may receive from our current or future collaborators provide significant optionality and would be sufficient to meet our projected operating needs through the anticipated commercialization of linaclotide. If our forecasted operating needs change, we may require additional funding in the form of public or private equity offerings or debt financings or we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our development programs or our commercialization efforts. In addition, if favorable financing opportunities arise, we may seek additional funding at such time. Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations, including the underlying estimates regarding the costs to obtain regulatory approval and the costs to commercialize linaclotide, is a forward-looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary materially and negatively as a result of a number of factors, including the factors discussed in the Risk Factors section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect.

Due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development of our product candidates, we are unable to estimate precisely the amounts of capital outlays and operating expenditures necessary to complete the development of, and to obtain regulatory approval for, linaclotide and our other product candidates for all of the indications for which we believe each product candidate is suited. Our funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to, the following:

•	the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatory approvals for our product candidates;
•	the rate of progress and cost of our commercialization activities;
•	the success of our research and development efforts;
•	the expenses we incur in marketing and selling our product candidates;
•	the revenue generated by sales of our product candidates;
•	the emergence of competing or complementary technological developments;
•	the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
•	the terms and timing of any additional collaborative, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish; and

•	the acc	uisition	of	businesses,	products	and	technologies	

Contractual Commitments and Obligations

The disclosure of our contractual obligations and commitments is set forth under the heading *Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Contractual Commitments and Obligations* in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

We, and in some cases, along with our collaboration partner, Forest, have entered into multiple commercial supply agreements for the purchase of linaclotide API and drug product. Some of the agreements contain minimum purchase commitments, the earliest of which commences in 2012. As of September 30, 2011, our minimum purchase requirement across all the agreements is approximately \$45.0 million through 2017.

Related Party Transactions

We have and currently obtain legal services from a law firm that is an investor of ours. We paid approximately \$29,000 and \$124,000 in legal fees to this investor during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately \$96,000 and \$196,000 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.

In September 2006, Tate & Lyle Investments, Ltd., or T&L, became a related party when we sold to them 1,823,529 shares of common stock of Microbia at the aggregate purchase price of approximately \$2,000, and sold 7,000,000 shares of convertible preferred stock of Microbia at the aggregate purchase price of \$7.0 million. T&L accounted for approximately 0% and 98% of our revenue from discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively. In June 2010, T&L and

Table of Contents

Microbia entered into an agreement to terminate their collaboration. All current and future obligations between Microbia and T&L were terminated as a result of this agreement. As a result of the sale of our interest in Microbia to DSM, T&L is no longer a related party.

In September 2009, Forest became a related party when we sold to them 2,083,333 shares of our convertible preferred stock at a price of \$12.00 per share for cash proceeds of \$25.0 million. Forest accounted for approximately 45% and 49% of our revenue from continuing operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately 60% for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010.

In November 2009, Almirall became a related party when we sold to them 681,819 shares of our convertible preferred stock at a price of \$22.00 per share for cash proceeds of \$15.0 million. Almirall accounted for approximately 48% and 43% of our revenue from continuing operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately 29% and 31% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements (as that term is defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K) or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As such, we are not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in those types of relationships. We enter into guarantees in the ordinary course of business related to the guarantee of our own performance and the performance of our subsidiaries.

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, or other standard setting bodies that are adopted by us as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, we believe that the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations upon adoption.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-13. ASU 2009-13 amends existing revenue recognition accounting pronouncements that are currently within the scope of FASB Accounting Standards Codification Subtopic 605-25 (previously included within EITF 00-21) *Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables*, or EITF 00-21. The consensus to ASU 2009-13 provides accounting principles and application guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the arrangement should be separated, and the consideration allocated. This guidance eliminates the requirement to establish the fair value of undelivered products and services and instead provides for separate revenue recognition based upon management s estimate of the selling price for an undelivered item when there is no other means to determine the fair value of that undelivered item. EITF 00-21 previously required that the fair value of the undelivered item be the price of the item either sold in a separate transaction between unrelated third parties or the price charged for each item when the item is sold separately by the vendor. Under EITF 00-21,

if the fair value of all of the elements in the arrangement was not determinable, then revenue was deferred until all of the items were delivered or fair value was determined. This new approach is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010 and allows for retrospective application. On January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2009-13 on a prospective basis. The adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-17. ASU 2010-17 provides guidance in applying the milestone method of revenue recognition to research or development arrangements. Under this guidance management may recognize revenue contingent upon the achievement of a milestone in its entirety, in the period in which the milestone is achieved, only if the milestone meets all the criteria within the guidance to be considered substantive. This ASU is effective for research and development milestones achieved in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. On January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2010-17 to change our accounting policy to begin applying the milestone method on a prospective basis. As we elected prospective adoption, there was no material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. However, the adoption of ASU 2010-17 is expected to impact the accounting for any milestone payments we receive in future periods.

Table of Contents

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-27, Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmaceutical Manufacturers, or ASU 2010-27, which provides guidance on how to recognize and classify the fees mandated by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act (together, the Acts). The Acts impose an annual fee for each calendar year beginning on or after January 1, 2011 payable by branded prescription drug manufacturers and importers on branded prescription drugs. The liability for the fee should be estimated and recorded in full upon the first qualifying sale with a corresponding deferred cost that is amortized to expense using a straight-line method of allocation over the calendar year that it is payable. ASU 2010-27 is effective for calendar years beginning on or after December 31, 2010, when the fee initially becomes effective. As we do not currently have a commercial product, the effect of this guidance will be limited to future transactions.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, *Presentation of Comprehensive Income*, or ASU 2011-05, which is intended to facilitate the convergence of U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards, or IFRS, as well as to increase the transparency of items reported in other comprehensive income. As a result of ASU 2011-05, all nonowner changes in stockholders equity are required to be presented in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The option to present other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity has been eliminated. ASU 2011-05 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011 and should be applied retrospectively. We expect to adopt this standard beginning in 2012. As ASU 2011-05 impacts presentation only, it will have no effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. We invest our cash in a variety of financial instruments, principally deposits, securities issued by the U.S. government and its agencies and money market instruments. The goals of our investment policy are preservation of capital, fulfillment of liquidity needs and fiduciary control of cash and investments. We also seek to maximize income from our investments without assuming significant risk. Our cash is deposited in and invested through highly rated financial institutions in North America.

Our primary exposure to market risk is interest income sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of interest rates, particularly because our investments are in short-term marketable securities. Due to the short-term duration of our investment portfolio and the low risk profile of our investments, an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio. Accordingly, we would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be affected to any significant degree by the effect of a sudden change in market interest rates on our investment portfolio.

We do not believe our cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments have significant risk of default or illiquidity at this time, as they are invested in securities issued by the U.S. government. While we believe our cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities do not contain excessive risk, we cannot provide assurance that in the future our investments will not be subject to adverse changes in market value.

Our capital lease obligations bear interest at a fixed rate and therefore have minimal exposure to changes in interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk

We have no operations outside the U.S. and do not have any foreign currency or other derivative financial instruments.

Effects of Inflation

We do not believe that inflation and changing prices have had a material effect on our business over the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

34

Ta	ble	of	Content	S

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, conducted an evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control

As required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exchange Act, our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, conducted an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting to determine whether any changes occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded no such changes during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q materially affected, or were reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

PART II OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, any of the factors described below could significantly and negatively affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. The trading price of our Class A common stock may decline due to these risks.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We are largely dependent on the success of linaclotide, which may never receive regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized.

On August 9, 2011, we and our U.S. collaboration partner, Forest, announced that we submitted an NDA with the FDA for our lead product candidate, linaclotide, for the treatment of IBS-C and CC. On October 24, 2011, we and Forest announced that the FDA accepted the NDA for review, and the FDA Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA) target action date is expected to occur in June 2012. We and Forest are not permitted to market linaclotide in the U.S. until we receive approval of the NDA from the FDA.

On September 29, 2011, we and our European partner, Almirall, each announced that Almirall submitted an MAA, with the EMA for linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C. Our other partners, including Almirall in Europe, are not permitted to market linaclotide in any foreign jurisdictions until they receive the requisite marketing approvals from the regulatory authorities in such jurisdictions.

Obtaining regulatory approval is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process. Now that the FDA has accepted the NDA for linaclotide for filing, the FDA s review has just commenced. Similarly, the EMA s review of the MAA for linaclotide is just beginning. The FDA and foreign regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the drug approval process, including the ability to delay, limit or deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons. Potential risks include those that the regulatory authorities:

- may not deem linaclotide safe and effective;
- may not find the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials sufficient to support approval;
- may not approve of manufacturing processes and facilities;

may not approve linaclotide for both IBS-C and CC indications in the U.S.;

desirable could reduce our potential revenue.

may require significant warnings or restrictions on use to the product label for linaclotide; or
 may change their approval policies or adopt new regulations.
 Linaclotide is our GC-C agonist that achieved positive results in each of our two Phase 3 IBS-C trials and each of our two Phase 3 CC trials. Even though linaclotide met all primary and secondary endpoints in each of these trials, it may not be approved for either or both indications or for any other indication for which we seek approval from the FDA or a foreign regulatory authority. Further, the FDA and any foreign regulatory authority may disagree with our trial design or our interpretation of data from clinical trials, or they may change the requirements for approval

even after they have reviewed and commented on the design for our clinical trials. The FDA and any foreign regulatory authority might also approve linaclotide for fewer or more limited indications than we request, or may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-approval clinical trials. In addition, the FDA and any foreign regulatory authority may not approve the labeling claims that we believe are necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of linaclotide. Any failure to obtain regulatory approval of linaclotide would significantly limit our ability to generate revenues, and any failure to obtain such approval for all of the indications and labeling claims we deem

Table of Contents

Linaclotide may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties that could delay or prevent its regulatory approval or limit its commercial potential.

Undesirable side effects caused by linaclotide could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in the denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities and potential products liability claims. Any serious adverse events deemed to be caused by linaclotide could have a material adverse effect upon the linaclotide program and our business as a whole. The most common adverse event to date in the clinical studies evaluating the safety and efficacy of linaclotide has been diarrhea. For the most part, the diarrhea has been considered mild or moderate by the patients. In the four Phase 3 clinical trials, our results indicate that diarrhea was seen in 14% to 20% of linaclotide-treated patients, and was the most common adverse event that led to study discontinuation in 3% to 6% of linaclotide-treated patients. 90% of patients who had diarrhea had mild to moderate episodes. In our clinical development program, there have been no serious adverse events in any patients receiving linaclotide treatment that were deemed by a study investigator or us to be definitely related or probably related to linaclotide treatment, nor have there been any deaths in any patients receiving linaclotide treatment that were deemed by a study investigator or us to be related to linaclotide treatment.

If linaclotide receives marketing approval, and undesirable side effects are caused or appear to be caused by the product, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

- regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of linaclotide;
- regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label;
- we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients;
- we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and
- our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of linaclotide and could substantially increase commercialization costs.

If we or our collaboration partners and other third parties upon whom we rely to produce linaclotide are unable to satisfy FDA quality standards and related regulatory requirements, experience manufacturing difficulties, or are unable to manufacture sufficient quantities of our product candidates, our development and commercialization efforts may be materially harmed.

We do not currently possess internal manufacturing capacity- we use contract manufacturers to manufacture our clinical and commercial supplies. With respect to the manufacturing of linaclotide, we have entered into commercial supply agreements with PolyPeptide Laboratories, Inc. and Polypeptide Laboratories (SWEDEN) AB and with Corden Pharma Colorado, Inc. (formerly known as Roche Colorado Corporation), each for the manufacture of the linaclotide API that is being used to seek regulatory approval of linaclotide, and, pending any such approval, that will be incorporated into the finished product for commercialization in our partnered territories. However, if we change or add manufacturers, the regulatory authorities in each territory must approve these manufacturers facilities and processes prior to use, which may require compliance inspections, and the new manufacturers would have to be educated in or independently develop the processes necessary for the production of linaclotide. While we believe we will have arrangements to produce a sufficient amount of API, if we lose a manufacturer, it would take us a substantial amount of time to identify and develop a relationship with an alternative manufacturer.

These third party manufacturers acquire the raw materials for the API from a limited number of sources. Any curtailment in the availability of these raw materials could result in production or other delays with consequent adverse effects on us. In addition, changes in raw material suppliers may also result in production delays or higher raw material costs.

Upon production of our API, each of our collaboration partners, Forest, Almirall and Astellas, is responsible for completing the manufacturing process of linaclotide in its respective territory, which consists of finishing and packaging linaclotide into capsules. In addition, we have entered into an agreement with Almac Pharma Services Limited, or Almac, to complete the manufacturing process of linaclotide in the parts of the world outside of our partnered territories and to introduce redundancy into our supply chain within our partnered territories. We will be dependent upon the success of our partners and Almac in producing drug product for commercial sale. No party has experience producing finished drug product for linaclotide at full commercial scale, and there can be no assurance that commercial scale manufacturing capacity will be achieved.

Table of Contents

The manufacture of pharmaceutical products requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often encounter difficulties in commercial production. These problems include difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of the product and quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as compliance with federal, state and foreign regulations, and the challenges associated with complex supply chain management. If our manufacturers were to encounter difficulties or otherwise fail to comply with their obligations to us, our ability to obtain FDA or EMA approval, and market and maintain an adequate commercial supply of linaclotide would be jeopardized.

Each of the linaclotide manufacturers needs to comply with good manufacturing practices, or GMP, requirements enforced by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities through their facilities inspection programs. These requirements include, among other things, quality control, quality assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation. Manufacturers of linaclotide may be unable to comply with these GMP requirements and with other regulatory requirements. We have little control over our manufacturers or collaboration partners compliance with these regulations and standards. A failure to comply with these requirements may result in fines and civil penalties, suspension of production, suspension or delay in product approval, product seizure or recall, or withdrawal of product approval. If the quality of linaclotide is compromised due to a manufacturers or collaboration partners failure to adhere to applicable laws or GMP requirements, or for other reasons, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize linaclotide, and we may be held liable for any injuries sustained as a result. Any of these factors could cause a delay in regulatory submissions, approvals or commercialization of linaclotide or our other product candidates, entail higher costs or result in our being unable to effectively commercialize linaclotide or our other product candidates. Furthermore, if our manufacturers or collaboration partners fail to deliver the required commercial quantities on a timely basis and at commercially reasonable prices, we may be unable to meet demand for any approved products and would lose potential revenues.

Because we work with partners to develop, manufacture and promote linaclotide, we are dependent upon third parties, and our relationships with those third parties, in our efforts to obtain regulatory approval for, and to commercialize, linaclotide.

We co-develop and plan to co-promote linaclotide in the U.S. with Forest. Forest played a significant role in the conduct of the clinical trials for linaclotide and in the subsequent collection and analysis of data. In addition, since we will co-commercialize linaclotide in the U.S. with Forest, we are working closely with them to develop and implement a commercialization plan for linaclotide if and when it is approved by the FDA. Each of Almirall, our European partner, and Astellas, our partner in certain Asian countries, is responsible for completing the clinical programs and obtaining regulatory approval of linaclotide in its respective territory. Further, we and our other partners are responsible for reporting adverse event information to us and to Forest. In addition, each of our partners is responsible for completing the manufacturing process of linaclotide upon production of the API, which consists of finishing and packaging linaclotide into capsules. These functions may not be carried out effectively and efficiently if we fail to communicate and coordinate with our partners, and vice versa. Employees of our partners are not our employees, and we have limited ability to control the amount or timing of resources that they devote to linaclotide. If any of our partners fails to devote sufficient time and resources to linaclotide, or if its performance is substandard, it will delay the potential approval of regulatory applications for linaclotide as well as the manufacturing and commercialization of linaclotide. A material breach by any of our partners of our collaboration agreement with such partner, or a significant disagreement between us and a partner, could also delay the regulatory approval and commercialization of linaclotide, potentially lead to costly litigation, and could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition.

Moreover, although we have non-compete restrictions in place with each of our partners, they may have relationships with other commercial entities, some of which may comp

If any of our partners undergoes a change in control or management, this may adversely affect our collaborative relationship or the timeline and likelihood of achieving regulatory approval and, ultimately, the commercialization of linaclotide.

We work jointly and collaboratively with Forest, Almirall and Astellas on many decisions related to the development, manufacturing and commercialization of linaclotide. In doing so, we have established relationships with several key members of our partners management teams in functional areas such as development, quality, regulatory, operations and commercial. The success of our collaborations is highly dependent on the resources, efforts and skills of our partners and their key employees. If a partner undergoes a change of control or a change of management, we will need to reestablish many of these relationships and we will need to regain alignment of our development and commercialization strategy for linaclotide. Further, any change of control or management may result in a reprioritization of linaclotide within such partner s profile, or such partner may fail to maintain the financial resources necessary to continue financing its portion of the development, manufacturing or commercialization costs. In certain circumstances, if one of our partners undergoes a change of control, we have the right to terminate the collaboration or license agreement and reacquire that partner s rights with respect to linaclotide. If we elect to exercise these rights in such circumstances, we will need to either establish the capability to develop and commercialize linaclotide in that partnered territory on our own or we will need to establish a

Table of Contents

relationship with a new partner. In any of these situations, the timeline and likelihood of achieving regulatory approval and, ultimately, the commercialization of linaclotide would be at risk or impaired.

Even if linaclotide receives regulatory approval, it may still face future development and regulatory difficulties.

On August 9, 2011, we and Forest announced that we submitted an NDA with the FDA for linaclotide for the treatment of IBS-C and CC, and on October 24, 2011, we and Forest announced that the FDA accepted the NDA for review. However, even if U.S. regulatory approval is obtained, the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on a product s indicated uses or marketing or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies. Linaclotide and our other product candidates would also be subject to ongoing FDA requirements governing the labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and submission of safety and other post-market information. In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with GMP regulations. If we or a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with a facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product or the manufacturer, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing. If we, our product candidates or the manufacturing facilities for our product candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:

•	issue warning letters or untitled letters;
•	impose civil or criminal penalties;
•	suspend regulatory approval;
•	suspend any ongoing clinical trials;
•	refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications submitted by us;
•	impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or
•	seize or detain products or require us to initiate a product recall.

Even if linaclotide receives regulatory approval in the U.S., we or our collaborators may never receive approval to commercialize linaclotide outside of the U.S.

We have out-licensed the European rights to develop and commercialize linaclotide to Almirall, and we have out-licensed the same rights in certain Asian countries to Astellas. In the future, we may seek to commercialize linaclotide in foreign countries outside of Europe and those Asian countries with other parties or by ourselves. In order to market any products outside of the U.S., we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other jurisdictions regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve product testing and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the U.S. Almirall submitted an MAA with the EMA in September 2011. The time required to obtain approval in other jurisdictions, including the European Union, or E.U., might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other jurisdictions may include all of the risks detailed above regarding FDA approval in the U.S. as well as other risks. Regulatory approval in one jurisdiction does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory processes in others. Failure to obtain regulatory approvals in other jurisdictions or any delay or setback in obtaining such approvals could have the same adverse effects detailed above regarding FDA approval in the U.S. As described above, such effects include the risks that linaclotide may not be approved for all indications requested, which could limit the uses of linaclotide and have an adverse effect on its commercial potential or require costly post-marketing studies.

Linaclotide may not be widely adopted by patients, payors or healthcare providers, which would adversely impact our potential profitability and future business prospects.

The commercial success of linaclotide depends upon its level of market adoption by patients, payors and healthcare providers. If linaclotide does not achieve an adequate level of market adoption for any reason, our potential profitability and our future business prospects will be severely adversely impacted. The degree of market acceptance of linaclotide depends on a number of factors, including:

Table of Contents

may purch from IBS-	our ability to demonstrate to the medical community, particularly general practitioners, internists and gastrointestinal specialists who asse or prescribe linaclotide, the clinical efficacy and safety of linaclotide as the prescription product of choice for patients who suffer C or CC;
•	the effectiveness of our sales and marketing organizations and our distribution network;
• payors; an	the ability of patients or providers to be adequately reimbursed for linaclotide in a timely manner from government and private d
• and create	the actual and perceived safety profile of linaclotide, particularly if unanticipated adverse events related to linaclotide treatment arise safety concerns among potential patients or prescribers.
	ace competition in the IBS-C and CC marketplace, and new products may emerge that provide different or better alternatives for of gastrointestinal conditions.
treatment gastrointes linaclotide methods o	d and commercialized, linaclotide will compete globally with certain prescription therapies and over the counter products for the of IBS-C and CC, or certain associated symptoms. The availability of prescription competitors and over the counter products for stinal conditions could limit the demand, and the price we are able to charge, for linaclotide unless we are able to differentiate on the basis of its clinical benefits in our clinical trials. New developments, including the development of other drug technologies and f preventing the incidence of disease, occur in the pharmaceutical and medical technology industries at a rapid pace. These ents may render linaclotide obsolete or noncompetitive.
there are a patients w	e other companies are developing products which could compete with linaclotide, should they be approved by the FDA. Currently, few compounds in late stage development and other potential competitors are in earlier stages of development for the treatment of ith either IBS-C or CC. If our potential competitors are successful in completing drug development for their drug candidates and roval from the FDA, they could limit the demand for linaclotide.
pharmaceu	our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than us. Mergers and acquisitions in the atical industry may result in even more resources being concentrated in our competitors. Competition may increase further as a result are made in the commercial applicability of technologies and greater availability of capital for investment in these fields.

We have limited sales and marketing experience and resources, and we may not be able to effectively market and sell linaclotide.

With linaclotide, we are developing a product candidate for large markets traditionally served by general practitioners and internists, as well as gastrointestinal specialists. Traditional pharmaceutical companies employ groups of sales representatives to call on these large generalist physician populations. In order to adequately address these physician groups, we must optimize our co-promotion relationship in the U.S. and license relationship in Canada and Mexico with Forest, our license and commercialization relationship in Europe with Almirall, and our license and commercialization relationship in certain Asian countries with Astellas. Likewise, we must either establish sales and marketing collaborations or co-promotion arrangements or expend significant resources to develop our own sales and marketing presence outside of North America, Europe, and those Asian countries. We currently possess limited resources and may not be successful in establishing additional collaborations or co-promotion arrangements on acceptable terms, if at all. We also face competition in our search for collaborators, co-promoters and sales force personnel.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursement policies which, if not favorable for linaclotide, could hinder or prevent linaclotide s commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize linaclotide successfully will depend in part on the coverage and reimbursement levels set by governmental authorities, private health insurers and other third-party payors. As a threshold for coverage and reimbursement, third-party payors generally require that drug products have been approved for marketing by the FDA. Third-party payors also are increasingly challenging the effectiveness of and prices charged for medical products and services. We may not obtain adequate third-party coverage or reimbursement for linaclotide or we may be required to sell linaclotide at a discount.

We expect that private insurers will consider the efficacy, cost effectiveness and safety of linaclotide in determining whether to approve reimbursement for linaclotide and at what level. Obtaining these approvals can be a time consuming and expensive process. Our business would be materially adversely affected if we do not receive approval for reimbursement of linaclotide from private insurers on a timely or satisfactory basis. Our business could also be adversely affected if private insurers, including managed

Table of Contents

care organizations, the Medicare program or other reimbursing bodies or payors limit the indications for which linaclotide will be reimbursed to a smaller set than we believe it is effective in treating.

In some foreign countries, particularly Canada and the countries of Europe, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to strict governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take six to 12 months or longer after the receipt of regulatory approval and product launch. To obtain favorable reimbursement for the indications sought or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our products, including linaclotide, to other available therapies. Further, several European countries have implemented government measures to either freeze or reduce pricing of pharmaceutical products. If reimbursement for our products is unavailable in any country in which reimbursement is sought, limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be materially harmed.

We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of linaclotide and our future products due to the healthcare reforms discussed below, as well as the trend toward programs aimed at reducing health care costs, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations, the ongoing federal government debate on reducing the federal deficit and additional legislative proposals.

If we fail to comply with healthcare regulations, we could face substantial penalties and our business, operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

As a manufacturer of pharmaceuticals, even though we do not and will not control referrals of healthcare services or bill directly to Medicare, Medicaid or other third-party payors, certain federal and state healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and abuse and patients rights are and will be applicable to our business. We could be subject to healthcare fraud and abuse and patient privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business. The regulations include:

- federal healthcare program anti-kickback laws, which prohibit, among other things, persons from soliciting, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce either the referral of an individual, for an item or service or the purchasing or ordering of a good or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;
- federal false claims laws which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payors that are false or fraudulent, and which may apply to entities like us which provide coding and billing advice to customers;
- the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, which prohibits executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters and which also imposes certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

• the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, which among other things, strictly regulates drug product marketing, prohibits manufacturers from marketing drug products for off-label use and regulates the distribution of drug samples;
• state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws which may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by federal laws, thus complicating compliance efforts;
• the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act which prohibits corporations and individuals from paying, offering to pay, or authorizing the payment of anything of value to any foreign government official, government staff member, political party, or political candidate in an attempt to obtain or retain business or to otherwise influence a person working in an official capacity; and
• the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, and similar state laws in certain states, that require pharmaceutical and medical device companies to monitor and report payments, gifts and other remuneration made to physicians and other health care professional and health care organizations.
If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our
41

Table of Contents

operations. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring of our operations could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. Although compliance programs can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecution for violations of these laws, the risks cannot be entirely eliminated. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management s attention from the operation of our business. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance with applicable federal and state privacy, security and fraud laws may prove costly.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevent our product candidates commercial success.

The U.S. government and other governments have shown significant interest in pursuing healthcare reform, as evidenced by the passing of the Patient Protection and Affordable Healthcare Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act. This healthcare reform law increases the number of individuals who receive health insurance coverage and closes a gap in drug coverage under Medicare Part D as established under the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement Act of 2003; each of these reforms could potentially increase our future revenue from linaclotide or any other product candidates that are approved for sale. The law, however, also implements cost containment measures that could adversely affect our future revenue. These measures include increased drug rebates under Medicaid for brand name prescription drugs and extension of these rebates to Medicaid managed care. The legislation also extends 340B discounted pricing on outpatient drugs to children s hospitals, critical access hospitals, and rural health centers; this expansion reduces the amount of reimbursement received for drugs purchased by these new 340B-covered entities.

Additional provisions of the health care reform law, which have taken effect or will become effective later this year, may negatively affect our future revenue and prospects for profitability. Along with other pharmaceutical manufacturers and importers of brand name prescription drugs, we would be assessed a fee based on our proportionate share of sales of brand name prescription drugs to certain government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid. As part of the health care reform law s provisions closing a funding gap that currently exists in the Medicare Part D prescription drug program (commonly known as the donut hole), we will also be required to provide a 50% discount on brand name prescription drugs sold to beneficiaries who fall within the donut hole.

In the aftermath of the healthcare reform law, private health insurers and managed care plans are likely to continue challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. These cost-control initiatives could decrease the price we might establish for linaclotide, which would result in lower product revenue or royalties payable to us.

In addition, in some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the health care system in ways that could affect our ability to sell our products profitably. These proposed reforms could result in reduced reimbursement rates for linaclotide and our other potential products, which would adversely affect our business strategy, operations and financial results.

The Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007 gives the FDA enhanced post-marketing authority, including the authority to require post-marketing studies and clinical trials, labeling changes based on new safety information, and compliance with risk evaluations and mitigation strategies approved by the FDA. The FDA s exercise of this authority could result in delays or increased costs during product development, clinical trials and regulatory review, increased costs to assure compliance with post-approval regulatory requirements, and potential restrictions on the sale and/or distribution of approved products.

In pursuing our growth strategy, we will incur a variety of costs and may devote resources to potential opportunities that are never completed or for which we never receive any benefit. Our failure to successfully discover, acquire, develop and market additional product candidates or approved products would impair our ability to grow.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to develop and market additional products and product candidates. We are pursuing various therapeutic opportunities through our pipeline. We may spend several years completing our development of any particular current or future internal product candidate, and failure can occur at any stage. The product candidates to which we allocate our resources may not end up being successful. Our business depends entirely on the successful development and commercialization of our product candidates. We currently generate no revenue from sales of any product, and we may never be able to develop marketable drugs.

In addition, because our internal research capabilities are limited, we may be dependent upon pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic scientists and other researchers to sell or license products or technology to us. The success of this strategy depends partly upon our ability to identify, select, discover and acquire promising pharmaceutical product candidates and products.

Table of Contents

The process of proposing, negotiating and implementing a license or acquisition of a product candidate or approved product is lengthy and complex. Other companies, including some with substantially greater financial, marketing and sales resources, may compete with us for the license or acquisition of product candidates and approved products. We have limited resources to identify and execute the acquisition or in-licensing of third-party products, businesses and technologies and integrate them into our current infrastructure. Moreover, we may devote resources to potential acquisitions or in-licensing opportunities that are never completed, or we may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such efforts. We may not be able to acquire the rights to additional product candidates on terms that we find acceptable, or at all.

sacir cirore	of the may not be uple to dequire the rights to additional product candidates on terms that we find decoptable, of at any
In addition	, future acquisitions may entail numerous operational and financial risks, including:
•	exposure to unknown liabilities;
•	disruption of our business and diversion of our management s time and attention to develop acquired products or technologies;
•	incurrence of substantial debt, dilutive issuances of securities or depletion of cash to pay for acquisitions;
•	higher than expected acquisition and integration costs;
•	difficulty in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses with our operations and personnel;
•	increased amortization expenses;
• ownership;	impairment of relationships with key suppliers or customers of any acquired businesses due to changes in management and and
•	inability to motivate key employees of any acquired businesses.

Further, any product candidate that we acquire may require additional development efforts prior to commercial sale, including extensive clinical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities. All product candidates are prone to risks of failure typical of pharmaceutical product development, including the possibility that a product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by regulatory authorities.

Delays in the completion of clinical testing of any of our product candidates could result in increased costs and delay or limit our ability to generate revenues.
Delays in the completion of clinical testing could significantly affect our product development costs. We do not know whether planned clinical trials will be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement and completion of clinical trials can be delayed for a number of reasons, including delays related to:
obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial;
• reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective clinical research organizations, or CROs, and trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;
 manufacturing sufficient quantities of a product candidate for use in clinical trials;
• obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective site;
• recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including competition from other clinical trial programs for the treatment of similar conditions; and
• signing-up patients who have initiated a clinical trial but may be prone to withdraw due to side effects from the therapy, lack of efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost to further follow-up.

Table of Contents

Clinical trials may also be delayed as a result of ambiguous or negative interim results. In addition, a clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by us, an institutional review board overseeing the clinical trial at a clinical trial site (with respect to that site), the FDA, or other regulatory authorities due to a number of factors, including:

- failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or the study protocols;
- inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold;
- unforeseen safety issues; and
- lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.

Additionally, changes in regulatory requirements and guidance may occur, and we may need to amend clinical trial protocols to reflect these changes. Each protocol amendment requires institutional review board review and approval, which may adversely impact the costs, timing or successful completion of the associated clinical trials. If we experience delays in completion or if we terminate any of our clinical trials, the commercial prospects for our product candidate may be harmed, and our ability to generate product revenues will be delayed. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval.

We may not be able to manage our business effectively if we lose any of our current management team or if we are unable to attract and motivate key personnel.

We may not be able to attract or motivate qualified management and scientific, clinical and commercial personnel in the future due to the intense competition for qualified personnel among biotechnology, pharmaceutical and other businesses, particularly in the greater-Boston area. Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnover of management personnel in recent years. If we are not able to attract and motivate necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives, we may experience constraints that will significantly impede the achievement of our objectives.

We are highly dependent on the development, regulatory, commercial and financial expertise of our management, particularly Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D., our chief executive officer; Mark G. Currie, Ph.D., our senior vice president of research and development and our chief scientific officer; Michael J. Higgins, our senior vice president, chief operating officer and chief financial officer; and Thomas A. McCourt, our senior vice president, marketing and sales and chief commercial officer. If we lose any members of our management team in the future, we may not be able to find suitable replacements, and our business may be harmed as a result. In addition to the competition for personnel, the Boston area in particular is characterized by a high cost of living. As such, we could have difficulty attracting experienced personnel to our company and may be required to expend significant financial resources in our employee recruitment efforts.

We also have scientific and clinical advisors who assist us in formulating our product development and clinical strategies, as well as sales and marketing advisors who have assisted us in our commercialization strategy and brand plan for linaclotide. These advisors are not our employees and may have commitments to, or consulting or advisory contracts with, other entities that may limit their availability to us, or may have arrangements with other companies to assist in the development and commercialization of products that may compete with ours.

We face potential product liability exposure, and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities.

The use of our product candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any products for which we obtain marketing approval expose us to the risk of product liability claims. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we could incur substantial liabilities. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:

- decreased demand for any approved product;
- impairment of our business reputation;
- withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
- initiation of investigations by regulators;

44

Table of Contents

•	costs of related litigation;
•	distraction of management s attention from our primary business;
•	substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;
•	loss of revenues; and
•	the inability to commercialize our product candidates.
Our insurar becoming in amounts to insurance of commercial side effects	ly have product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials that is subject to industry-standard terms, conditions and exclusions are coverage may not be sufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient protect us against losses. If and when we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we intend to expand our coverage to include the sale of commercial products; however, we may be unable to obtain this product liability insurance on lly reasonable terms. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated at A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely affect our business.
	ess involves the use of hazardous materials, and we must comply with environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive t how we do business.
regulations procedures eliminate t	ies involve the controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardous materials. We are subject to federal, state, city and local laws and governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous materials. Although we believe that the safety we use for handling and disposing of these materials comply with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot he risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of an accident, local, city, state or federal authorities the use of these materials and interrupt our business operations. We do not currently maintain hazardous materials insurance
Risks Rela	ated to Intellectual Property

Limitations on our patent rights relating to our product candidates may limit our ability to prevent third parties from competing against us.

Our success will depend on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for our product candidates, preserve our trade secrets, prevent third parties from infringing upon our proprietary rights and operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others.

The strength of patents in the pharmaceutical industry involves complex legal and scientific questions and can be uncertain. Patent applications in the U.S. and most other countries are confidential for a period of time until they are published, and publication of discoveries in scientific or patent literature typically lags actual discoveries by several months or more. As a result, we cannot be certain that we were the first to conceive inventions covered by our patents and pending patent applications or that we were the first to file patent applications for such inventions. In addition, we cannot be certain that our patent applications will be granted, that any issued patents will adequately protect our intellectual property or that such patents will not be challenged, narrowed, invalidated or circumvented.

We also rely upon unpatented trade secrets, unpatented know-how and continuing technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position, which we seek to protect, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees and our collaborators and consultants. We also have agreements with our employees and selected consultants that obligate them to assign their inventions to us. It is possible that technology relevant to our business will be independently developed by a person that is not a party to such an agreement. Furthermore, if the employees and consultants that are parties to these agreements breach or violate the terms of these agreements, we may not have adequate remedies, and we could lose our trade secrets through such breaches or violations. Further, our trade secrets could otherwise become known or be independently discovered by our competitors.

Table of Contents

In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the U.S., and therefore, we may encounter problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property in certain foreign jurisdictions.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that litigation would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability, and the ability of our collaborators, to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields in which we and our collaborators are developing products. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry expands and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our potential products may give rise to claims of infringement of the patent rights of others. There may be issued patents of third parties of which we are currently unaware, that may be infringed by our product candidates. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending applications which may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe.

We may be exposed to, or threatened with, future litigation by third parties alleging that our product candidates infringe their intellectual property rights. If one of our product candidates is found to infringe the intellectual property rights of a third party, we or our collaborators could be enjoined by a court and required to pay damages and could be unable to commercialize the applicable product candidate unless we obtain a license to the patent. A license may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, during litigation, the patent holder could obtain a preliminary injunction or other equitable relief which could prohibit us from making, using or selling our products, pending a trial on the merits, which may not occur for several years.

There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries generally. If a third party claims that we or our collaborators infringe its intellectual property rights, we may face a number of issues, including, but not limited to:

- infringement and other intellectual property claims which, regardless of merit, may be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and may divert our management s attention from our core business;
- substantial damages for infringement, which we may have to pay if a court decides that the product at issue infringes on or violates the third party s rights, and, if the court finds that the infringement was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and the patent owner s attorneys fees;
- a court prohibiting us from selling our product unless the third party licenses its rights to us, which it is not required to do;
- if a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, fees or grant cross-licenses to our intellectual property rights; and

•	redesigning our products so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial monetary expenditures and
time.	

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or may assert our patents are invalid. To counter ongoing or potential infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time consuming. Litigation with generic manufacturers has become increasingly common in the biopharmaceutical industry. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our patent application at risk of not issuing.

Interference proceedings brought by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with respect to our patents and patent applications or those of our collaborators. An unfavorable outcome could require us to cease using the technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be harmed if a

Table of Contents

prevailing party does not offer us a license on terms that are acceptable to us. Litigation or interference proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distraction of our management and other employees. We may not be able to prevent, alone or with our collaborators, misappropriation of our proprietary rights, particularly in countries where the laws may not protect those rights as fully as in the U.S.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceeding or developments.

Risks Related to Our Finances and Capital Requirements

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and anticipate that we will incur continued losses for the foreseeable future.

In recent years, we have focused primarily on developing linaclotide, with the goal of supporting regulatory approval for this product candidate. We have financed our operations primarily through the issuance of equity and our collaboration and license arrangements, and we have incurred losses in each year since our inception in 1998. We incurred net losses attributable to Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of approximately \$20.6 million and \$57.9 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately \$8.3 million and \$41.3 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively. As of September 30, 2011, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately \$425.4 million. Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders—equity and working capital. We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our efforts to commercialize linaclotide and our research and development of our other product candidates. As a result, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products, we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when, or if, we will become profitable.

We may need additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would force us to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development programs or commercialization efforts.

Developing product candidates, conducting clinical trials, establishing manufacturing relationships and marketing drugs are expensive and uncertain. Circumstances, our strategic imperatives, or opportunities to create or acquire new development programs could require us to, or we may choose to, seek to raise additional funds. The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

• the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other product development programs for linaclotide and our other product candidates;

•	the costs associated with launching and commercializing linaclotide, should it be approved by FDA;
•	if linaclotide receives regulatory approval, the level of underlying demand for that product;
•	the costs and timing of in-licensing additional product candidates or acquiring other complementary companies;
•	the timing of any regulatory approvals of our product candidates;
•	the costs of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; and
•	the status, terms and timing of any collaboration, licensing, co-promotion or other arrangements.
	funding may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce of or eliminate one or more of our development programs or our commercialization efforts.
Our quart	erly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly.
We expect factors, inc	our operating results to be subject to frequent fluctuations. Our net loss and other operating results will be affected by numerous cluding:
	47

Table of Contents

•	the achievement and timing of milestone payments under our existing collaboration and license agreements;
• these arrar	our execution of any collaboration, licensing or similar arrangements, and the timing of payments we may make or receive under agements;
• approval c	the costs associated with launching and commercializing linaclotide and any of our product candidates, if we receive regulatory f such candidate;
•	if linaclotide receives regulatory approval, the level of underlying demand for that product and wholesalers buying patterns;
•	variations in the level of expenses related to our development programs;
•	addition or termination of clinical trials;
•	regulatory developments affecting our product candidates; and
•	any intellectual property infringement lawsuit in which we may become involved.
	rating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our Class A common stock could decline ly. Furthermore, any quarterly or annual fluctuations in our operating results may, in turn, cause the price of our stock to fluctuate ly.
Risks Rela	ating to Securities Markets and Investment in Our Stock
The conce	ntration of our capital stock ownership with our pre-IPO stockholders will limit your ability to influence certain corporate matter.

Each share of Class A common stock and each share of Class B common stock has one vote per share on all matters except for the following matters, for which each share of our Class B common stock has ten votes per share and each share of our Class A common stock has one vote

	gg	 	
per share:			

- adoption of a merger or consolidation agreement involving Ironwood;
- a sale of all or substantially all of Ironwood s assets;
- a dissolution or liquidation of Ironwood; and
- every matter, if and when any individual, entity or group (as that term is used in Regulation 13D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) has, or has publicly disclosed (through a press release or a filing with the SEC) an intent to have, beneficial ownership of 30% or more of the number of outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock, combined.

Because of our dual class common stock structure, the holders of our Class B common stock, who consist of our pre-IPO investors (and their affiliates), founders, directors, executives and certain of our employees, will continue to be able to control the corporate matters listed above if any such matter is submitted to our stockholders for approval even if they come to own less than 50% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. As of November 1, 2011, the holders of our Class A common stock own approximately 60% and the holders of our Class B common stock own approximately 40% of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock, combined. However, because of our dual class common stock structure these holders of our Class A common stock have approximately 87% of the total votes in each of the matters identified in the list above. This concentrated control with our Class B common stock holders limits the ability of the Class A common stockholders to influence those corporate matters and, as a result, we may take actions that many of our stockholders do not view as beneficial, which could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

Table of Contents

Anti-takeover provisions und	er our charter de	ocuments and I	Delaware l	law could delay	or prevent	a change of	control	which could	l negatively
impact the market price of ou	ır Class A comm	on stock.							

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control. These provisions include the following:

- Our certificate of incorporation provides for a dual class common stock structure. As a result of this structure, holders of our Class B common stock have significant influence over certain matters requiring stockholder approval, including significant corporate transactions, such as a merger. This concentrated control could discourage others from initiating a change of control transaction that other stockholders may view as beneficial.
- Our board of directors is divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, such that not all members of the board are elected at one time. This staggered board structure prevents stockholders from replacing the entire board at a single stockholders meeting.
- Our board of directors has the right to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors.
- Our board of directors may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of preferred stock. The ability to authorize preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire us.
- Stockholders must provide advance notice to nominate individuals for election to the board of directors or to propose matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders meeting. Furthermore, stockholders may only remove a member of our board of directors for cause. These provisions may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect such acquirer s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company.
- Our stockholders may not act by written consent. As a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a majority of our capital stock are not able to take certain actions outside of a stockholders meeting.
- Special meetings of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors, our chief executive officer or a majority of our board of directors. As a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a majority of our capital stock are not able to call a special meeting.

• A majority of the outstanding shares of Class B common stock are required to amend our certificate of incorporation and a super-majority (80%) of the outstanding shares of common stock are required to amend our by-laws, which make it more difficult to change the provisions described above.
In addition, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit certain business combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws and in the Delaware General Corporation Law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed by the then-current board of directors.
We expect that the price of our Class A common stock will fluctuate substantially.
The market price of our Class A common stock may be highly volatile due to many factors, including:
• FDA or international regulatory actions, including actions on regulatory applications for any of our product candidates;
• the commercial performance of any of our product candidates that receive marketing approval;
• announcements of the introduction of new products by us or our competitors;
• market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;
49

Table of Contents

•	announcements concerning product development results, including clinical trial results, or intellectual property rights of others;
•	litigation or public concern about the safety of our potential products;
•	actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating results;
•	deviations in our operating results from the estimates of securities analysts;
•	sales of additional shares of our common stock;
•	additions or departures of key personnel;
•	any third-party coverage and reimbursement policies for linaclotide;
•	developments concerning current or future strategic collaborations; and
•	discussion of us or our stock price in the financial or scientific press or in online investor communities.
Class A co	ation of any of the risks described in these Risk Factors could have a dramatic and material adverse impact on the market price of our ommon stock. In addition, class action litigation has often been instituted against companies whose securities have experienced periods ty. Any such litigation brought against us could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management attention, which could hurt ess, operating results and financial condition.
	50

Table of Contents

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the sections titled Risk Factors and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains forward-looking statements. All statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, plans and objectives of management for future operations. The words may, continue, estimate, intend, plan, will, believe, project, expect, seek, anticipate and similar expressions may identify forward-lout the absence of these words does not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking. These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:

C	
•	the progress of, timing of and amount of expenses associated with our research, development and commercialization activities;
• existing or	our ability to obtain U.S. and foreign regulatory approval for our product candidates and the ability of our product candidates to meet future regulatory standards;
•	our expectations regarding federal, state and foreign regulatory requirements;
•	the therapeutic benefits and effectiveness of our product candidates;
•	the safety profile and related adverse events of our product candidates;
•	our ability to manufacture sufficient amounts of linaclotide for commercialization activities with target characteristics;
•	the success of our clinical studies for our product candidates;
•	our plans with respect to collaborations and licenses related to the development, manufacture or sale of our product candidates;
•	the ability of our partners to perform their obligations under our collaboration and license agreements with them;

•	our expectations as to future financial performance, expense levels, capital raising and liquidity sources;
• candidates	our ability to compete with other companies that are or may be developing or selling products that are competitive with our product;
•	anticipated trends and challenges in our potential markets;
•	our ability to attract and motivate key personnel; and
•	other factors discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
statements assumption assumption	of our forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may turn out to be inaccurate. These forward-looking may be affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties, including the risks, uncertainties and is identified under the heading Risk Factors in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In light of these risks, uncertainties and is, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may not occur as contemplated, results could differ materially from those anticipated or implied by the forward-looking statements.
required by	d not unduly rely on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Unless y law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect new information or future otherwise. You should, however, review the factors and risks we describe in the reports we will file from time to time with the SEC atte of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
	51

Table of Contents

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the quarter ended September 30, 2011.

Use of Proceeds

In February 2010, we completed our IPO of our Class A common stock pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-163275) that was declared effective on February 2, 2010.

There were no material changes in our use of proceeds from the IPO from that described in the final prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) on February 4, 2010. As of September 30, 2011, we estimate that we used the proceeds in the following way:

- approximately \$45.3 million to fund the development and commercialization of linaclotide;
- approximately \$30.9 million to fund both research and development of early stage product candidates and preclinical research in multiple therapeutic areas, including gastrointestinal disease, pain and inflammation, respiratory disease, and cardiovascular disease; and
- approximately \$127.0 million for general corporate purposes.

Item 6. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index following the signature page to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

52

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Date: November 9, 2011 By: /s/ PETER M. HECHT

Peter M. Hecht, Ph.D.

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 9, 2011 By: /s/ MICHAEL J. HIGGINS

Michael J. Higgins

Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer)

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No:

3.1 Eleventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2010.

* Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.